
PRELIMINARY AGENDA  
REGULAR SESSION 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
JESSIE MAYS COMMUNITY HALL 

30975 NW Hillcrest Street 
Tuesday, February 18, 2014 – 7:00 P.M. 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER  
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
3. ROLL CALL 
 
4. CONSENT AGENDA:  (The items on the Consent Agenda are normally 

considered in a single motion. Any item may be removed for separate 
consideration upon request by any member of the Council.) 

 
A. Approval of regular session agenda 

B. Approval of minutes of 02/03/2014 Council meeting 

5.  PUBLIC COMMENT: (Persons wishing to speak on matters not on the agenda 
may be recognized at this time.  Speakers must complete a “Public Comment 
Registration form” on the information table and return it to the City Recorder.  
You are not required to give your address when speaking to the City Council, 
only your name.  Presentations are limited to five minutes.)   

 
6. PRESENTATION: 

None Scheduled 
 
7. PUBLIC HEARING: 

A.  Appeal of Planning Commission decision regarding a subdivision at 31790 
NW North Avenue 

 
8. NEW BUSINESS: 

A. Discussion of City matching funds raised at the benefit dance at Jessie Mays 
in March 

B. Resolution No. 1816 waiving fees and approving use of Commercial Street 
for North Plains Farmers Market 

C. January 2014 Check Register 
 
9. UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 

A. Discussion and approval of specific draft city policies from number 604-613.  
(Copies of policies were distributed at the 9/16/13 Council meeting) 

B. Update on Smokehouse Summit event 
C. Presentation on PORAC benefits for Reserve Officers 

 
10. ORDINANCES: 
 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 1 of 138



 FIRST READING:   
A. Introduction of Ordinance No. 419 amending Chapter 6.25 peddlers, 

solicitors, street vendor and temporary merchant ordinance 
B. Introduction of Ordinance No. 420 establishing Chapter 4.50 prohibiting sale 

and use of tobacco and vapor products by minors 
C. Introduction of Ordinance No. 421 establishing Chapter 4.53 disallowing the 

use of smoking and tobacco products on city property. 
 

SECOND READING: 
None Scheduled 

 
11. STAFF REPORTS 
 Staff reports will be provided by the Public Works Director, Police Chief, and 

Library Director 
 
12. COUNCIL REPORTS 

A. Council reports will be provided by the Mayor and City Councilors on 
meetings attended and other items. 

 
B. February 2014 Council Calendar 
 

13. ADVICE/INFORMATION ITEMS: 
 2/21/14: One Book One Community-Movie Night: Hotel Rwanda 
 2/23/14: Playdate at Jessie Mays @1:30 p.m. 
 2/27/14: One Book One Community-Book Discussion 

 
14. ADJOURNMENT: 
 

***** 
North Plains City Council meetings are accessible for disabled individuals.  The City will 
also endeavor to provide services for persons with impaired hearing or vision and other 
services, if requested, at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.  To obtain services, please 
call City Hall at (503) 647-5555  

***** 
 

The following City Council Meetings are scheduled to be held at Jessie Mays 
Community Hall at 30975 NW Hillcrest Street, North Plains, Oregon. 

 
The meetings will be held on the following dates at 7:00 p.m.: 

 
Monday, March 3, 2014 Monday, March 17, 2014 Monday, April 7, 2014 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 2 of 138



CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MINUTES REGULAR SESSION 

NORTH PLAINS SENIOR CENTER 
31450 NW Commercial  

Monday, February 3, 2014 
 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor David Hatcher called the meeting to order at 7:06 p.m. 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Mayor Hatcher conducted the flag salute 
 
3. ROLL CALL: Mayor David Hatcher; Council President Teri Lenahan; Councilors: 

Michael Broome, Michael Demagalski, Robert Kindel, Jr., Charlynn Newton, and 
Glen Warren 
 
Staff present: City Manager Martha DeBry, Chief of Police Bill Snyder, Library 
Director Debra Brodie, Management Analyst Jennifer Knowles, Volunteer 
Coordinator/Library Assistant Carol Aldrich, Deputy City Recorder Margaret Reh 

 
4. CONSENT AGENDA: 
 

A. Approval of regular session agenda 

B. Approval of minutes of 01/21/2013 Council meeting 

Hatcher recommended removing Agenda Item No: 8D, the discussion of the home 
occupation ordinance from the agenda so that it can be discussed at a joint meeting with 
the Planning Commission at a later date.  Motion was made by Lenahan and seconded by 
Demagalski to remove agenda item 8D from the Agenda. The motion was approved 
unanimously. 
 
Motion by Broome and seconded by Demagalski to approve the Consent Agenda. The 
motion was approved unanimously. 
 
5.  PUBLIC COMMENT:  
 None forthcoming 
 
6. PRESENTATION: 

A. Carla Bennett, Tobacco Prevention and Education Program Coordinator, 
Washington County Department of Health and Human Services. 

 
Bennett appeared before the Council to present information regarding emerging issues 
related to the use of electronic cigarettes and to alert the Council of the controversial data 
regarding tobacco prevention and the use of e-cigarettes among minors. Washington 
County is encouraging local agencies to consider local bans on the sale of nicotine 
products to minors until the State of Oregon adopts more consistent rules regarding e-
cigarette sales. 
 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 3 of 138



Hatcher thanked Bennett for the presentation.  Hatcher stated he would consult with 
Council if they would want to bring this back as an agenda item. 

 
7. PUBLIC HEARING: 
 None Scheduled 
 
8. NEW BUSINESS: 

A. Adopt Resolution No. 1815 approving an agreement between the City of North 
Plains and North Plains Chamber of Commerce regarding the Elephant Garlic 
Festival 

 
DeBry presented the staff report. The Chamber of Commerce recently voted to pass 
ownership of the Elephant Garlic Festival to the City of North Plains.  The agreement, 
included in Council’s packet, provides for the legal transfer of ownership of the Elephant 
Garlic Festival names, equipment and other property. 
 
Hatcher stated this is the final step in the transfer of the North Plains Elephant Garlic 
Festival to the City of North Plains. 
 
Concern was expressed by Council regarding the ownership of “Stinkee”—the character 
that has its body formed in resemblance to a garlic bulb with garlic shoots projecting like 
hair from the top of the elephant’s head. This character was created by Stewart King. Use 
of the character has been granted to the City for the 2014 Elephant Garlic Festival. 
 
Concern was also expressed regarding the storage of the inventory of supplies and 
equipment that has been acquired over the years for the Elephant Garlic Festival. Newton 
didn’t understand why it couldn’t continue to be stored in Stewart King’s shed. DeBry 
stated it is not typical to have a citizen store city equipment. The inventory will be moved to 
one of the City’s yards. 
 
Discussion took place regarding using this equipment for other city events. Lenahan 
inquired if a policy should be established restricting the use of this inventory from other city 
events to protect the items from being damaged.  Demagalski stated that if the City owns 
it, they should be able to use it for any city event. He stated that there isn’t a point to 
purchase the same items when they are already available for use and are being stored on 
City property. If damage happens to occur, they can be replaced at that time. 
 
Motion by Kindel and seconded by Lenahan to adopt Resolution No. 1815. The motion 
was approved unanimously. Hatcher stated “the City now owns the Garlic Festival.” 
 

B. Adopt Resolution No. 1816 approving an agreement for a hospitality market 
feasibility study to be performed by consultants Kennedy and Mohn 

 
DeBry stated staff has been looking to assess some property in the community for 
different uses. One thing that strikes staff as being plausible in North Plains is to attract a 
hotel. Hotels provide a variety of jobs, tourism and create a revenue stream for the city. 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 4 of 138



Staff has received a proposal from Kennedy and Mohn to perform a market feasibility 
study to determine if sites in North Plains would meet the criteria of major hotel brands 
 
This study would help determine if we are a good candidate for a hotel site.  Once the 
product is in hand the City can approach hotel chains to see if we could attract a property 
to come to the city. Staff is looking for direction from Council if staff should engage the 
consultant for $6,500 plus expenses to perform this feasibility study. 
 
Discussion ensued. Hatcher stated we need to first ask if we want a hotel in this 
community. Then decide if we want to move forward with this feasibility study. Council will 
need to determine how a property such as this would fit within our ordinances. As the 
conversation continued it was determined that this would be a proposal that should be 
submitted to the URA Board. The funding for this study could come from the URA 
contingency fund.  Staff will place the request on a URA agenda for Tuesday, February 18, 
2014 following the City Council meeting.  
 

C. Discussion of City matching funds raised at a benefit dance at Jessie Mays in 
March 

 
Due to misinformation in the agenda packet regarding which benefit dance was to be 
discussed for the matching Council funds, this subject will be on the next Council agenda. 
 

D. Discussion of draft home occupation ordinance 
 
It was determined at the beginning of this Council meeting that this item was to be 
removed from the agenda to be discussed at a future joint meeting with the Planning 
Commission. 
 

E. Discussion of draft peddlers, solicitors, street vendor and temporary merchant 
ordinance 

 
DeBry presented the staff report. Included were some proposed revisions to Municipal 
Code Section 6.25 that would enable the application process to be more streamline. 
Tighter restrictions were proposed for door-to-door sales within the community and a 
consistent set of operating hours was proposed for mobile and vendors, solicitors and 
peddlers. 
 
No action was taken on this item as it was informational only. 
 

F. Quarterly Finance Report 
 
The quarterly finance report was distributed to Council. Clarifying questions were asked 
and answered to the satisfaction of the Council. 
 

G. Report on the planning status of the Fourth of July Celebration 
 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 5 of 138



The Fourth of July Co-coordinators, Jennifer Knowles and Carol Aldrich presented the 
status of the planning for the Fourth of July festivities. It will be a celebration in a John 
Adams style and that of colonial America. 
 
9. UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 

A. Discussion and approval of specific draft city policies from number 401-603 
 
The draft policy manual was distributed at the 9/16/13 council meeting to give the 
Councilors time to review and present any changes or concerns.  Council directed staff on 
10/21/13 that batches of policies be reviewed at each meeting until they are all approved. 
 
Council went through policies 401-603.  Discussion ensued. Clarifying questions were 
asked but there were no changes made to this group of policies. An edited copy of the 
whole manual will be delivered to Council at the end of the process. 
 
10. ORDINANCES: 
  

FIRST READING: 
 None Scheduled 
 

SECOND READING: 
 None Scheduled 
 
11. STAFF REPORTS 
 
DeBry stated the Parks Board requested to meet with the Council to conduct a work 
session. This work session would be a discussion between the Parks Board and Council 
to ensure the goals of each group line up with each other. It was suggested to schedule 
the study session at 6:00 p.m. on Tuesday, February 18, 2014 right before the next 
scheduled City Council meeting. 
 
It was decided that it is necessary to have a joint session with the City Council and the 
North Plains Planning Commission on Monday, March 3, 2014.  This would be to work 
directly together on the home occupation ordinance and other planning issues. 
 
Included in the Council packet is the annual report from the Washington County 
Cooperative Library Services (WCCLS).  DeBry stated it is great report on the direction 
WCCLS is moving. 
 
DeBry reported that she has been in contact with OSP property owners on West Union.  
They are willing to split the cost of an appraisal of the property with the city.  DeBry will 
have more info to share at the March meeting. 
 
DeBry wanted to address some weird rumors that have been circulating regarding the 
police force.  She stated there are no negotiations taking place with the City of Banks.  
North Plains is not taking over their police services.  Also, DeBry wanted to squelch the 
rumors regarding contracting with Washington County for police services.  Lenahan stated 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 6 of 138



she has heard these rumors also. DeBry wanted it to be made clear that there are not 
negotiations in place.  Council would be the first to hear if there were. 
 
Blake Boyles is working half days this week. 
 
Brodie reported that the William Stafford event on Friday, January 17 was very successful. 
Brodie commended the work done by Heidi Fuiten and Margaret Reh on organizing a 
great event for the community. 
 
The 7th Annual One Book One Community Kick-off was held Saturday, February 1, 2014. 
Sam Munyandamutsa of the Pacific Northwest Rwandan Association shared stories of his 
life growing up in Rwanda and prepared Rwandan food for all the attendees. 
 
Library Board will be sending out a survey to all library patrons to aid in strategic planning 
for library services. 
 
A national grant has been issued from the Institute of Museum and Library Services 
(IMLS) for a pilot program, which has now been broadened to 22 systems, for classes to 
be offered to citizens over 55. Three libraries have been chosen in Oregon—Beaverton, 
Cedar Mill and North Plains.  These classes will start nearer to January 2015 and will go 
for 18 months. 
 
12. COUNCIL REPORTS 
 
There have been e-mail issues with the Councilors not being able to receive mail since the 
transition to IT Services with Hillsboro became effective.  The instructions the Councilors 
received should have worked. A member from the Hillsboro IT Department will be 
contacting the Councilors directly.  There have also been issues with Councilors not being 
able to log into the website without encountering the “403 Forbidden” block. 
 
Hatcher inquired of the Council if they want to bring the information provided by Carla 
Bennett earlier in this meeting back for more discussion and possible ordinance adoption. 
Consensus of the Council was to bring it back as two separate ordinance discussions: 

1. Establish an ordinance to prohibit sale of e-cigarettes to minors. 
2. Disallow the use of the e-cigarettes on city property.  

 
Lenahan stated that she thinks the City newsletter is awesome. It is great that businesses 
are using the opportunity to advertise in the community newsletter. 
 
Glen Warren stated that he has two complaints and an inquiry. Warren asked if the City 
has any interest in selling the yellow house. Council asked if he wanted to buy it. He stated 
that he has always said he wanted to buy it.  DeBry stated the City is using it for storage 
and there are no immediate plans to sell it. 
 
Warren’s first complaint was regarding the metal fab place on Hillcrest. The proprietor is 
using the sidewalk as a staging area for his metal. It has made it very unsafe to walk along 
that side of the street. 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 7 of 138



 
Warren’s second complaint is regarding a house on Main Street that is close to Claxtar 
that has put up a fence that extends to the ditch. He stated that fences should not be built 
all the way to the ditches.  
 
13. ADVICE/INFORMATION ITEMS: 

 Thursday, January 23, 2014: Joint Legislative Dinner at the Prime Time 
Restaurant 

 Sunday, January 26 from 1:30-5:00: Playdate at Jessie Mays Community Hall 
 One Book One Community Kick-Off: Saturday, February 1 from 6:30-8:30 at the 

North Plains Public Library. Free copies of the book “Running the Rift” by Naomi 
Benaron and free Rwandan food. 

 
14. ADJOURNMENT: Mayor Hatcher adjourned the meeting at 9:50 p.m. 
 

 
 
______________________________ 
David Hatcher, Mayor 
 
 
 
______________________________ Date approved _______________ 
Margaret L. Reh, Deputy City Recorder 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 8 of 138



 

Agenda Item No: 7A    

 
CITY OF NORTH PLAINS 
31360 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, Oregon 97133 

 

Date:  January 24, 2014 

To:  Mayor and City Council 

From:  City Manager Martha DeBry 

Subject: Public Hearing regarding an appeal of the Planning Commission decision 
to deny the application of Biggi Construction on Tax Lot 1N301BD400 

 

Request:  Council conduct a hearing de novo regarding the appeal of the Planning 
Commission decision to deny an application by Biggi Construction for a project on North 
Avenue. 
 
Background:  On December 11, 2013 the Planning Commission considered the 
application of Biggi Construction for a 5 lot subdivision at 31790 NW North Avenue.  A 
copy of the staff report, minutes and final findings related to the denial are included in 
Council’s packet.   
 
The application is for a one acre property, which currently has a single family residence 
constructed in 1925 with a detached garage which is identified on Lot 5.  Like most infill 
projects the project designer attempted to arrange the new homes around the existing 
features of the property, which is in the R7.5 zone. 
 

 General 

Vicinity 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 9 of 138



 Aerial View 

 

Existing Garage 

 

 

Existing House 

 

It should be 

noted all vacant 

lots to south 

have been built 

out since aerial 

photo was 

completed.  

 

View of property 

from North 

Avenue facing 

west top and 

facing east 

bottom. 

 

Note garage is 

to left and 

house is to 

right.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

The driveway on 

the bottom 

photo is in 

alignment with 

the proposed 

project 

driveway. 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 10 of 138



 Subdivision 

Layout 

 

North Avenue is 

at the top.  A 

private 

driveway leads 

to flag lots 2, 3, 

and 4.  Lot 1 

and 5 face 

North Avenue.  

 

Tract B is facing 

North Avenue.  

Private 

driveway to be 

shared by Lots 

2, 3 and 4 

 

Flagpole drive 

between Lots 3 

and 4 

 
The proposed design included retaining the existing house, adding a second house on 
the frontage of North Avenue, and creating 3 flag lots at the south side of the property.  
In order to make the houses fit the following variances from development standards 
were recommended to the Planning Commission. 
 

Lot 1 - Variance from minimum lot width and minimum lot size. 
Lot 2 - Variance from minimum lot width and minimum lot size. 
Lot 3 - Variance from minimum lot width and minimum lot size. 
Lot 4 - Variance from minimum lot width and minimum lot size. 
Lot 5 - Variance from minimum lot width and maximum lot size be allowed to 

exceed 9,000 square feet. 
 
Some of the variances could have been granted through an administrative approval 
process, however staff opted to bring all land use approvals to the Planning 
Commission as one package.  Specifically lots 1-4 were eligible for administrative 
approval of variance to lot sizes, and Lots 1, 3 and 4 were eligible for administrative 
approval of lot widths.  An administrative variance can be granted for changes up to 
10% of the standard.  Technically, only the variance for Lot 2 lot width and Lot 5 
maximum lot size needed to be presented to the Planning Commission. 
 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 11 of 138



The Planning Commission denied the application because the voting members found 
that the project requires too many variances from the Municipal Code. Among the 
observations shared by the Planning Commissioners was that the existing home could 
be moved or eliminated to better accommodate new homes.  At the time of the hearing, 
there was no discussion of requesting the Applicant revise the plan and return to the 
Planning Commission.   
 
It should be noted of the seven-member Commission, only 3 commissioners voted on 
the application.  (Commissioners Hagar and Braukman were absent, and 
Commissioners King and Low recused themselves from the hearing to avoid an actual 
and the appearance of a conflict of interest.)  The minutes of the Planning Commission 
meeting are included in the packet, and the recording of the meeting is available on the 
City’s website. 
 
Discussion: 
The Applicant has presented the appeal of the plan because they believe a viable 
project cannot be constructed with fewer than 5 houses.  Factors contributing the need 
for the variance are placement of the existing house on the lot, the City requirement to 
extend water mains across the frontage of the property, and the long water and sewer 
service lines needed for the flag lots.  
 
The Comprehensive Plan identifies the R7.5 zone as having an average density of 5.8 
dwellings per acre.  Attempting to place 5 residences within one acre parcel would be 
consistent with this goal.   
 
Administrative variances are commonly granted with subdivisions.  It is at staff or the 
Commission’s discretion to determine if the variances are appropriate for a specific site.  
The City has no obligation to grant variances.  After having the application denied, the 
applicant offered to adjust the plan to address some of the Planning Commission’s 
concerns. Copies of the revised plan are included in Council’s packet.  The application 
presented with the appeal would require the following variances: 
 
Table 1 Proposed Variances for Biggi Subdivision (Items in italic and underlined meet standards.) 

Lot Width 
Standard 

Planning 
Application 

Appeal 
Application 

Area 
Standard 

Planning 
Application 

Appeal 
Application 

1  61 ft 55 ft  6,866 sq ft 6,866 sq ft 
2  46 ft 52 ft 7,500 sq ft 6,750 sq ft 7,584 sq ft 
3 60 ft 58 ft 54 ft minimum 6,824 sq ft 6,824 sq ft 
4  55 ft 54 ft  6,843 sq ft 6,843 sq ft 
5  77 sq ft 64 ft 9,000 sq ft 

maximum 
9,810 sq ft 9,810 sq ft 

 
 Lot 1 - Variance from minimum lot width and minimum lot size. 
 Lot 2 - Variance from minimum lot width and interior lot side set back. 
 Lot 3 - Variance from minimum lot width, minimum lot size and interior side lot 

setback. 
 Lot 4 - Variance from minimum lot width, minimum lot size and interior side lot 

setback. 
 Lot 5 - Variance from maximum lot size be allowed to exceed 9,000 square feet. ______________________________________ 

NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 
Tuesday, February 18, 2014 

Packet Pagination: Page 12 of 138

http://northplains.org/index.php/boards-and-commissions/planning-commission/agendas-and-minutes


 
 
The applicant has noted that the side yard setbacks for flag lots are greater than the 
side yard setbacks for the R 7.5 zone.  As a result the original application required Lot 2 
to be particularly narrow.  (It should be noted the Planning commission has requested 
that staff present an amendment to the code making the setback standards for flag lots 
the same as setbacks for the underlying zones.) 
 
The applicant is proposing buildings that are between 36 and 44 feet in width and 60 
feet deep, which would be typical of the R7.5 zone.  The Applicant has constructed 3 
homes immediately south of this subdivision in North Gardens on 317th last year, and 
those homes blend in well with the original neighborhood.  In fact one of the residents, 
who abuts this subdivision and occupies a home built by the Applicant, testified in favor 
of this project.    
 
Concerns were expressed by residents in Vanrodison Subdivision (NW Belgium Court) 
that the structures on the flag lots would be close to the property lines and existing 
houses.  The flag lot homes must meet a minimum of 10 feet sideyard setback from the 
property line, and the existing structures are another 15-30 feet from the property line. 
The proposed footprint for Lot 1 suggests the home will be 5 feet from the property line, 
which is allowed in the R7.5 zone.  The set back of the structure on the property 
adjoining to the west of Lot 2 (pictured below) is more than 10 feet from the property 
line. 
 

 
 
Recommendation:  Council conduct the hearing and select one of the following 
options: 
 ______________________________________ 

NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 
Tuesday, February 18, 2014 

Packet Pagination: Page 13 of 138



1) Uphold the decision of the Planning Commission, denying the application based 
on the need for variances. 

 
2) Approve the appeal of the Applicant, and grant the variances for the revised 

application making a finding that the variances are consistent with the 
neighborhood and underlying zoning.  

 
Attachments:   
Planning Commission Staff Report and attachments,  
Final Findings,  
Appeal Application with maps,  
Minutes of 12/11/13 Planning Commission Meeting. 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 14 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 15 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 16 of 138



NW North Subdivision 

Page 1 of 28 

 

November 14, 2013 

 
 

A P P L I C A N T ’ S  S T A T E M E N T  

 

 
APPLICANT/OWNER: Vince Biggi 

 Biggi Construction, LLC 

 11605 SW Normandy Lane 

 Wilsonville, OR 97070 

 

 

APPLICANT’S  

REPRESENTATIVE:  Neil Fernando, PE 

Emerio Design 

6107 SW Murray Blvd., Suite 147 

Beaverton, Oregon 97008 

 

 

REQUEST: Preliminary Plat Approval for a 5-Lot Single 

Family Residential Subdivision 

 

 

SITE LEGAL  

DESCRIPTION:  Tax Lot 400; Tax Map 1N3 01BD  

North Plains, Oregon 

 

 

SIZE:    0.96 Acres  

 

 

LOCATION:   31790 NW North Avenue 

  

      

LAND- USE DISTRICT: R-7.5   

 

 

   

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 17 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 2 of 28 

 

I. APPLICABLE REGULATIONS 

 

A. City of North Plains Comprehensive Plan  

 

B. North Plains Zoning and Development Ordinance: 

 

Chapter 16.20: Zoning District R-7.5 

Chapter 16.125: Lot Development Standards 

Chapter 16.135: Subdivisions 

Chapter 16.145: Public Facility and Service Requirements 

Chapter 16.150: Street Standards 

Chapter 16.155: Off-Street Parking & Loading 

Chapter 16.160: Clear Vision Areas 

Chapter 16.170: Application Requirements and Review Procedures 

Chapter 16.185: Variance 

   

 

II. AFFECTED JURISDICTIONS 

 

Domestic Water:  City of North Plains  

Drainage: Clean Water Services  

Erosion Control:  Clean Water Services 

Fire Protection:  WC #2 

Parks:    City of North Plains 

Police Protection:  City of North Plains 

Schools:   Hillsboro School District 

Sewer:    Clean Water Services  

Streets:   City of North Plains 

Water Quality/Quantity: Clean Water Services 

 

 

III. BACKGROUND: 

 

The applicant is requesting preliminary plat approval for a 5-lot subdivision of a 0.96 

acre lot designated R-7.5 on the City of North Plains Zoning Map.  The subject 

property is identified by the Washington County assessor as Tax Lot 400 of Tax Map 

1N3—01BD, and is further defined as 31790 NW North Avenue.  The existing house 

is proposed to remain on Lot 5 with access from NW North Avenue.  The existing 

garage is proposed to remain on Lot 5 as well.  The proposed new single-family 

detached dwelling on Lot 1 will have access onto NW North Avenue.  Lots 2 - 4 will 

take access off the private driveway (Tract A).  

 

The abutting properties are all within the R-7.5 District.  The applicant is proposing 

dedication and street improvements along the site’s NW North Avenue frontage. 

 

All necessary utilities (i.e., power, sanitary sewer, water, etc.) are presently available 

to the site, as illustrated on the preliminary utility plan. The existing house is 

proposed to remain and all utilities are connected to the house.  The existing house 

has a water meter from the existing 2” water line in NW North Avenue.  A water line 

extension to the existing 8” line east of the site in North Avenue is proposed to the 

western property line.  The existing dwelling will have a new water meter to connect 

to the new water line and the existing water meter to the 2” line will be abandoned.  

Four new water meters are proposed for Lots 1-4.  There is an existing sanitary line 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 18 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 3 of 28 

 

in North Avenue.  The existing house will retain its connection to this sanitary line 

and Lot 1 will also connect to the sanitary line in North Avenue.  A sanitary extension 

from the existing sanitary line south of the site in the private drive and utility 

easement will be extended on the site in a utility easement across the rear of Lots 2-

4.  Lots 2-4 will have sanitary laterals to this extension. The existing storm drainage 

ditch in North Avenue is proposed to be replaced with a storm drainage line 

extension from the existing line to the east to the western edge of the subject 

property, then to the existing ditch to the west. Storm drainage for Lots 2-4 will be 

connected to the existing storm line south of the site in an easement at the rear of 

these lots.  Storm drainage for the private driveway will be provided by a catch basin 

and a storm line between Lots 2 and 3 to the south. 

 

 

IV. FINDINGS 

 

A. NORTH PLAINS COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

 

COMMENT: 

 

Except where required by the North Plains Zoning and Development Ordinance, this 

application is not required to address the city’s goals and policies related to the 

development of land, since the North Plains Comprehensive Plan is implemented by the 

code.   

  

 

B. NORTH PLAINS ZONING AND DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 

 

ARTICLE II - PROCEDURES 

 

SECTION 16.20: ZONING DISTRICT R-7.5 

 

16.20.000  Purpose The purpose of the R7.5 District is to provide for the 

development of single family uses and limited multi-family residential 

uses, and to implement the housing policies of the Comprehensive 

Plan.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

The proposed subdivision site is 0.96 gross acres in area.  The applicant is proposing a 5-lot 

subdivision for single-family detached dwellings.  This standard is met. 

 

16.20.005  Permitted Uses 

 

Permitted Uses subject to the requirements of the Design Review section of this 

chapter, if applicable. Refer to Zoning Code Use Table. 

 

I.  Single family detached dwelling  

 

COMMENT: 

 

The applicant is proposing the existing detached dwelling remain on proposed Lot 5.  Four 

new detached single-family dwellings are proposed.  Therefore, this standard is satisfied. 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 19 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 4 of 28 

 

 

16.20.015  Dimensional Standards 

 

The following dimensional standards are the minimum requirements for all 

development in the R7.5 District except for modifications permitted under Lot, 

Building, & Yard Exceptions or Planned Unit Development sections of this chapter. 

In addition, a minor adjustment of up to 10% of the required setback, area, lot 

size, lot depth or lot width may be granted by the City Planner pursuant to 

Variance Review section of this chapter. 

 

COMMENT: 

 

The applicant is requesting minor adjustments to lot area for Lots 1-4 and lot width for Lots 

1, 3-4.  The applicant is also requesting a standard variance to the lot width of Lot 2. All 

other dimensional standards have been satisfied. 

 

A.  Lot/Parcel Size  

 

1. Single family detached dwelling - 7,500 square feet minimum  

3.  9,000 square feet maximum for lots created by subdivision 

 

COMMENT: 

 

Lot 5 is 9,000 square feet in area and contains the existing house and garage.  Lots 1-4 are 

requested to have a 10% minor adjustment to lot area and are all 6,750 sq. ft. in area 

(without the flag pole portion of the lots).  The minor adjustment request is addressed 

below.  This standard is satisfied. 

 

B.  Lot/Parcel Depth and Width  

 

1. The minimum average lot width shall be 60 feet. 

 

2. The minimum lot depth shall be 80 feet.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

Lots 1, 3 & 4 are requested to have up to a 9.2% minor adjustment to the lot width 

requirement of 60 feet.  Lot 2 is requested to have a standard variance to the lot width 

requirement. The adjustments and variance are addressed below.  All 5 lots meet the 

minimum lot depth of 80 feet.  This standard is satisfied. 

 

C.  Minimum Setback Requirements  

 

1. Principle structures, accessory dwellings, and accessory structures with 

a floor area greater than 200 square feet shall maintain the following 

minimum yard setbacks except that development on flag lots shall be 

subject to the setback standards of 16.125.010.  

 

2.  Front Yard (Principle structure) 20 feet 

 

3.  Garages, carports, accessory dwellings and accessory structures shall be 

flush with, or recessed behind, the front building elevation of the 

principle structure. 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 20 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 5 of 28 

 

 

4.  Rear Yard  

 

•  10 feet for street-access lots 

•  6 feet for alley-access lots 

•  5 feet for Accessory Structures and Accessory Dwellings 

 

5.  Side Yard (interior) 5 feet 

 

Side Yard (adjacent to street) 10 feet plus additional necessary to 

comply with the standards of the Clear Vision Areas section of this 

chapter. 

  

Accessory Structures and Accessory Dwellings only require a 5 foot Side 

Yard (adjacent to street) setback, except as provided for in 16.105.  

 

Flag Lots approved 10 feet for all yards, except pursuant to 16.125.010, 

that the yard facing the garage door shall be a minimum of 20 feet, 

except as otherwise provided in this chapter. 

 

COMMENT: 

 

The existing house is compliant with these standards.  Setbacks are shown on the submitted 

site plan.  The new single-family dwellings will be required to meet the standards above at 

building permit review and issuance.   

 

D.  Height of Buildings 

 

Buildings shall not exceed a height of 35 feet or two and a half stories, 

whichever is less. Accessory dwellings (excluding accessory structures) 

shall not exceed 25 feet in height. 

 

COMMENT: 

 

The existing house is compliant with this standard.  The new single-family dwellings will be 

required to meet the height standard above at building permit review and issuance. 

 

E.  Lot/Parcel Coverage  

 

In the R7.5 District, the maximum lot coverage shall not exceed fifty (50) 

percent of the total area of any lot.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

The existing dwelling does not exceed the 50% coverage standard.  All new dwellings will be 

required to meet this standard at building permit review and issuance. 

 

16.20.020  Parking Requirements 

 

At least two (2) off-street parking spaces shall be provided for each single family 

detached dwelling unit. Parking requirements for all other uses are specified in Off 

Street Parking and Loading of this chapter. 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 21 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 6 of 28 

 

 

COMMENT: 

 

Parking for the existing house on Lot 5 will continue to be provided in the existing garage 

and driveway. At least 2 off-street parking spaces will be provided for the proposed new 

dwellings on Lots 1-4 with one in the driveway and one in the garage.  This standard is 

satisfied. 

 

16.20.025  Development Standards  

 

A. The following standards will be applied to all single family dwellings (site-

built, modular and manufactured homes) to be constructed or located in the 

City of North Plains:  

 

All single family units shall utilize at least two of the following design 

features to provide visual relief along the front of the home:  

 

1.  dormers;  

2.  gables;  

3.  recessed entries;  

4.  covered porch entries;  

5.  cupolas;  

6.  pillars or posts;  

7.  bay or bow windows;  

8.  eaves (minimum 6" projection);  

9.  offsets on building face or roof (minimums 16");  

 

COMMENT: 

 

Each new dwelling will be required to comply with these standards at building permit review 

and issuance.  Specific building plans are unknown at this time. 

 

 

SECTION 16.125: LOT DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

  

16.125.005  Scope  

 

The provisions of this subsection shall apply to all partitions and subdivisions 

within the City of North Plains.  

 

COMMENT: 

  

The applicant is proposing a 5-lot subdivision.  Therefore, this Section is applicable. 

 

16.125.010  Standards for Lots  

 

A.  Minimum lot area:  

 

Minimum lot area shall conform to the requirements of the zoning district in 

which the lot is located.  

 

 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 22 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 7 of 28 

 

COMMENT: 

 

Lot 5 is 9,000 square feet in area and contains the existing house and garage.  Lots 1-4 are 

requested to have a 10% minor adjustment to lot area and are all 6,750 sq. ft. in area 

(without the flag pole portion of the lots).  The minor adjustment request is addressed 

below.  This standard is satisfied. 

 

B.  Access:  

 

All lots created after the effective date of this Ordinance shall provide a 

minimum of 20 feet of frontage on an existing or proposed public street, 

with the following exception:  

 

Flag lots, accessed by a private driveway, may be permitted by the Planning 

Commission when any of the following conditions are met:  

 

a.  The subject property is surrounded by developed properties and the 

terrain, shape of the parcel, or the location of existing structures 

precludes accessing the property with a public street.  

b. The proposed flag lot(s) front on the arc of a cul-de-sac and the use of 

flag lots would result in a better lot pattern around the cul-de-sac than 

that which might otherwise result.  

c.  The subject property is located in the Commercial or Industrial Zoning 

District and the Planning Commission finds that full frontage on a public 

street is unnecessary to the logical development of the property.  

d.  The Planning Commission finds that the use of flag lots is necessary due 

to conditions of terrain or other physical features of the property.  

e.  The Planning Commission finds that the use of flag lots accessing from a 

collector or local street is preferable to direct access from an arterial 

street. 

 

COMMENT: 

 

Lots 1 and 5 will have at least 20 feet of frontage on a public street, North Avenue.  Lot 2 

will have 20 feet of frontage on the private drive in Tract A.  Lots 3 and 4 are flag lots at the 

end of the proposed private driveway.  The site is bordered to the east, south, and west by 

development and to the north by North Avenue.  With the shape of the parcel and to 

provide access to the proposed lots, Lots 3 and 4 are flag lots.   

 

C.  Flag Lots:  

 

When authorized by the Planning Commission pursuant to the access 

requirements of Subsection Chapter 16.125.010 (B)(1), flag lots shall be 

subject to the following development standards:  

 

a.  The access strip shall be a minimum of 15 feet in width, except as 

required by the Uniform Fire Code. The improved surface shall be a 

minimum of 12 feet in width, except as required by the Uniform Fire 

Code. A three-foot wide landscaped planter strip shall be provided 

between the access strip and the side lot line of the neighboring lot.  

b.  The access strip shall not be included in the calculation of lot area for 

purposes of determining compliance with any minimum lot size provision 

of this Ordinance.  

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 23 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 8 of 28 

 

c.  The access strip shall be in fee ownership of the property provided 

access and shall not be as an easement. In the case of multiple lots 

having the same access strip, all lots served shall have ownership of an 

equal amount of the access strip. There shall be provided an easement 

over the remainder of the access strip for each property served.  

d.  The length of the access strip is subject to the requirements of the 

Uniform Fire Code, but shall not exceed 200 feet.  

e.  Where more than one flag lots abut, access shall be via a shared drive 

wherever possible. The shared drive access strip shall be a minimum of 

20 feet in width for two lots, and increased by 5 foot increments for each 

additional lot, with a maximum of four lots having access off of one 

access strip, except as required by the Uniform Fire Code. The improved 

surface shall be a minimum of 16 feet in width for two lots and increased 

by four feet for each additional lot, except as required by the Uniform 

Fire Code. A two foot wide vegetated planter strip shall be provided 

between the access strip and the abutting side lot lines.  

f.  Setbacks in Residential Zoning Districts. Subsequent development on 

flag lots in the R-7.5, R-5 and R-2.5 zoning districts shall provide 

minimum front, rear and side yard setbacks of 10 feet, except that the 

yard facing the garage door or carport entrance shall be a minimum of 

20 feet.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

Lots 3 & 4 are flag lots (double flag) with a shared access.  Each flag lot has 10.50 feet of 

frontage on the private driveway (Tract A) with a shared width of 21 feet.  A 14’ wide 

reciprocal access easement is proposed over the flag pole portion of Lots 3 & 4.  Setbacks 

for the 2 flag lots have been shown as 10 feet with a 20-foot garage setback. 

 

D.  Through Lots: Through lots shall be avoided except where essential to 

provide separation of residential development from major traffic arteries, 

adjacent nonresidential activities, or to overcome specific disadvantages of 

topography and orientation. Screening or buffering may be required by the 

Planning Commission during the review of the land division request. 

 

COMMENT: 

 

No through lots are proposed. 

 

E.  Lot Side Lines: The side lines of lots, as far as practicable, shall run at right 

angles to the street upon which the lots face.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

Side lot lines are proposed to run at right angles to the public street or private driveway.  

This standard is satisfied. 

 

F.  Lot Grading: Lot grading shall conform to the requirements of Chapter 70 of 

the Uniform Building Code, hereby adopted by reference, and to the 

following standards unless physical conditions demonstrate the propriety of 

other standards:  

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 24 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 9 of 28 

 

a.  Cut slopes shall not exceed one and one-half feet horizontally to one foot 

vertically.  

b.  Fill slopes shall not exceed two feet horizontally to one foot vertically.  

c.  The character of soil for fill and the characteristics of lots and parcels 

made usable by fill shall be suitable for the purpose intended.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

Lot grading will be minimal as the site is quite flat.  Lot grading will include grading for the 

building pads and driveway as needed. 

 

G.  Large Lots: In dividing tracts into large lots which at some future time are 

likely to be re-divided, the applicant's tentative plan shall also demonstrate 

that any redevelopment or re-subdivision may readily take place at the 

planned residential density without violating the requirements of this 

ordinance. 

 

COMMENT: 

 

No large lots are proposed.  Therefore, this standard is not applicable. 

 

H.  Land for Public Purposes: Where a proposed park, school or other public use 

indicated on the Comprehensive Plan is located in whole or in part within a 

subdivision, the sub-divider shall dedicate and reserve said area for such 

purpose. Where the City or other public authority has declared its intention 

to acquire said area, it shall proceed to perfect the title or a contract right to 

the same within three (3) years from the date of platting, and failing such, 

this reservation shall automatically expire. The public body shall 

expeditiously proceed, within its financial ability, to consummate such 

acquisitions. 

 

COMMENT: 

 

The Comprehensive Plan does not designate the site for a park or other public use.  

Therefore, this standard is not applicable.  

 

 

16.125.015  Standards for Blocks  

 

A.  General: The length, width, and shape of blocks shall take into account the 

need for adequate building site size and street width and shall recognize the 

limitations of the topography. 

 

COMMENT: 

 

The proposed development will not change the existing block length, width or shape.  The 

proposed private driveway is not a street and no connection to the south is possible with the 

existing development. 

 

B.  Sizes: Residential Districts shall have a maximum 600 foot block length, a 

minimum 160 foot street adjacent lot depth, and a 1,600 foot perimeter. 

Commercial Districts shall have a block length of 400 foot and a 1,200 foot 

perimeter. Light Industrial Districts shall have a block length of 600-800 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 25 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 10 of 28 

 

feet and a 1,600-2,000 foot perimeter. General Industrial Districts do not 

have block length or perimeter requirements. A block shall have sufficient 

width to provide for two tiers of building sites unless topography or the 

location of adjoining streets justifies an exception. 

 

COMMENT: 

 

The proposed development will not change the existing block length, width or shape.  The 

proposed private driveway is not a street and no connection to the south is possible with the 

existing development. 

 

 

16.125.020  Easements  

 

A.  Utility Lines: Minimum 5 foot wide easements for sewers, water mains, 

electric lines, or other public utilities shall be dedicated along the front, 

side, and rear lot or parcel lines of each lot. Easements shall be centered on 

lot lines.  

B.  Water Courses: If a tract is traversed by a water course such as a drainage 

way, channel or stream, a storm water easement or drainage right-of-way 

shall be provided which substantially parallels the lines of the water course.  

C.  Pedestrian and Bicycle Ways: When desirable for public convenience and 

access, a pedestrian or bicycle way easement may be required to connect to 

a cul-de-sac or to pass through an unusually long or oddly spaced block, or 

to otherwise provide appropriate circulation. 

 

COMMENT: 

 

A public utility easement is proposed along the site’s North Avenue frontage.  A blanket 

easement for access and utilities will be placed over Tract A extending 5’ feet on either side 

of the tract. A 14’ wide reciprocal access easement is proposed over the flag pole portions of 

Lots 3 & 4.  A 20’ wide utility easement at the rear of Lots 3 & 4 and a portion of Lot 2 is 

proposed for sanitary and storm drainage lines. A 10’ wide storm easement is proposed 

between Lots 2 & 3 to provide storm drainage for the private driveway. 

 

16.125.025  Improvement Requirements 

 

B.  Subdivisions: The following improvements shall be required for all 

subdivisions in the City of North Plains.  

 

1.  Frontage improvements: Street improvements to full City Standards shall 

be required for all public streets on which a proposed subdivision fronts. 

Such improvements shall be blended to match with existing improved 

surfaces across the centerline and for a reasonable distance beyond the 

frontage of the property. Additional frontage improvements shall 

include: sidewalks, curbing, storm sewer, sanitary sewer, waterlines, 

other public utilities as necessary, and such other improvements as the 

City shall determine to be reasonably necessary to serve the 

development or the immediate neighborhood.  

 

 

 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 26 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 11 of 28 

 

COMMENT: 

 

Frontage improvements are proposed to meet standards for the site’s NW North Avenue 

frontage. 

 

2. Proposed Streets: All public streets within the subdivision shall be 

constructed as required by the provisions of the Street Standards section 

of this chapter.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

No new public streets are proposed.  Improvements to North Avenue have been designed to 

meet applicable standards.  The applicant is proposing a 20’ private driveway in Tract A 

(tract width is 21’). 

 

3.  Monuments: Upon completion of street improvements, monuments shall 

be reestablished and protected in monument boxes at every street 

intersection and all points of curvature and points of tangency of street 

center lines. Elevation bench marks shall be established at each street 

intersection monument with elevations to U.S. Geological Survey datum.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

Monuments will be set in accordance with this standard. 

 

4.  Sanitary Sewers: Sanitary sewers shall be installed to serve the 

subdivision and to connect the subdivision to existing mains both on and 

off the property being subdivided.  

 

If the required sewer facilities will, without further sewer construction, 

directly serve property outside the subdivision, the Planning Commission 

may recommend to the City Council construction as an assessment 

project with such arrangement with the sub-divider as is desirable to 

assure financing his share of the construction.  

 

The City may require that the sub-divider construct sewage lines of a 

size in excess of that necessary to adequately serve the development in 

question, where such facilities are or will be necessary to serve the 

entire area within which the development is located when the area is 

ultimately developed. The City may also require that the construction 

take place as an assessment project with such arrangement with the 

sub-divider as is desirable to assure his share of the construction.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

There is an existing sanitary line in North Avenue.  The existing house will retain its 

connection to this sanitary line and Lot 1 will also connect to the sanitary line in North 

Avenue.  A sanitary extension from the existing sanitary line south of the site in the private 

drive and utility easement will be extended on the site in a utility easement across the rear 

of Lots 2-4.  Lots 2-4 will have sanitary laterals to this extension. 

 

5.  Water System: Water lines with valves and fire hydrants serving the 

subdivision and connecting the subdivision to the city mains shall be 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 27 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 12 of 28 

 

installed. The design shall take into account provisions for extension 

beyond the subdivision to adequately grid the City system and to serve 

the area within which the development is located when the area is 

ultimately developed.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

The existing house has a water meter from the existing 2” water line in NW North Avenue.  

A water line extension to the existing 8” line east of the site in North Avenue is proposed to 

the western property line.  The existing dwelling will have a new water meter to connect to 

the new water line and the existing water meter to the 2” line will be abandoned.  Four new 

water meters are proposed for Lots 1-4. 

 

6.  Street Lights and Street Trees: The installation of street lights and street 

trees is required at locations and of a type established by City standards.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

Street lights and street trees will be placed as required. 

 

7.  Street Signs: The installation of street name signs and traffic control 

signs is required at locations determined to be appropriate by the City 

and shall be of a type established by City standards. 

 

COMMENT: 

 

Street signage will be determined during construction plans.  No parking signs will be 

provided along the private driveway. 

 

 

SECTION 16.135: SUBDIVISIONS 

 

16.135.010  Submittal Requirements for Tentative Subdivision Plans  

 

A.  All Subdivision applications shall be submitted on forms provided by the City 

and accompanied by the appropriate filing fee.  

B.  Each application shall include fifteen (15) copies of the tentative subdivision 

plan drawn on a sheet of 18 x 24 inches in size at a scale of 1 inch equals 

100 feet.  

C.  The following information shall be shown on the tentative subdivision plan:  

 

1.  Proposed name of the subdivision. This name shall not duplicate or 

resemble the name of any other subdivision in the county and shall be 

approved by the Planning Commission and the County Surveyor.  

2.  Date, north point and scale of drawing.  

3.  Appropriate identification of the drawing as a tentative plan. 

4.  Description of the subdivision sufficient to define its location and 

boundaries and legal description of the tract boundaries.  

5.  Names and addresses of the owner, subdivider, and engineer, surveyor 

or planner.  

6.  The location, widths and names of both improved and unimproved 

streets within or adjacent to the tract, together with easements and 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 28 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 13 of 28 

 

other important features such as section lines, section corner, city 

boundary lines and monuments.  

7.  Contour lines related to some established bench mark or other datum 

approved by the city engineer and having minimum intervals as follows:  

 

a.  For slopes of less than five per cent: two feet, together with not less 

than four spot elevations per acre, evenly distributed, if necessary.  

b.  For slopes of five percent to 15 percent: five feet.  

c.  For slopes of 15 percent to 20 percent: ten feet.  

d.  For slopes of over 20 percent: 20 feet.  

 

8.  The location of at least one temporary bench mark within the subdivision 

boundaries pursuant to ORS 96.060.  

9.  The location and direction of water courses and the location of areas 

subject to flooding and/or within a designated 100-year flood plain.  

10. Natural features such as rock outcroppings, marshes, wooded areas and 

isolated preservable trees having a caliper (diameter) of 6 inches or 

greater at 4 feet above grade.  

11. Existing uses of the property and location of existing structures 

designated historic and cultural resources on the site and structures to 

remain on the property after platting.  

12. A vicinity map showing existing subdivisions and unsubdivided land 

ownerships adjacent to the proposed subdivision and showing how 

proposed streets and utilities may be extended to connect to existing 

streets and utilities. 

13. Proposed deed restrictions, if any, in outline form.  

14. The location of existing sewage disposal facilities, water mains, 

culverts, storm drainage facilities and electric lines within and adjacent 

to the subdivision.  

15. The location, width, names, approximate grades and radii of curves of 

proposed streets as shown on any development plan.  

16. Dimensions and area of each proposed lot.  

17. Proposed lot and block numbers.  

18. Proposed sites, if any, allocated for development,  

19. If the proposed subdivision includes only part of the tract owned or 

controlled by the subdivider, the City Planner or Planning Commission 

may require a sketch or tentative layout for streets and lots in the 

unsubdivided portion.  

20. Any of the following may be required by the City Planner or Planning 

Commission to supplement the tentative subdivision plan:  

 

a.  Approximate center line profiles with extensions for a reasonable 

distance beyond the limits of the proposed subdivision showing the 

finished grade of streets and sidewalks and the nature and extent of 

street construction.  

b.  A schematic plan for domestic water supply lines and related water 

service and sewage disposal facilities.  

c.  Proposals for storm water drainage and flood control, including 

profiles of proposed drainage ways.  

d.  If lot areas are to be graded or filled, a plan showing the nature of 

cuts and fills and information on the character of the soil.  

e.  Proposals for other improvements such as electric utilities. 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 29 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 14 of 28 

 

COMMENT: 

 

The application includes the signed application form, fee, narrative, and plan set addressing 

the requirements above as they apply. 

 

 

16.135.011  Preliminary Plat Approval Criteria  

 

The City may approve, approve with conditions or deny a preliminary plat based on 

the following approval criteria:  

 

A.  The proposed preliminary plat complies with the applicable Development 

Code chapters and all other applicable ordinances and regulations. At a 

minimum, the provisions of this section and the applicable sections of this 

chapter including Zoning Districts, Development Standards, and Streets and 

Facilities shall apply. Where a variance is necessary to receive preliminary 

plat approval, the application shall also comply with the Variance section of 

this chapter;  

 

COMMENT: 

 

The proposed subdivision complies with all the applicable Development Code chapters as 

required.  Two minor adjustments are requested to the lot area for Lots 1-4 and lot width 

for Lots 1, 3 & 4 and the standards in the variance chapter have been addressed in this 

narrative. One standard variance to lot width for Lot 2 is also requested and addressed 

below in this narrative. 

 

B.  The proposed plat name is not already recorded for another subdivision, and 

satisfies the provisions of ORS Chapter 92;  

 

COMMENT: 

 

The applicant will pick a subdivision name that is not already in use in Washington County. 

 

C.  The proposed streets, roads, sidewalks, bicycle lanes, pathways, utilities, 

and surface water management facilities are laid out so as to conform or 

transition to the plats of subdivision and maps of major partitions already 

approved for adjoining property as to width, general direction and in all 

other respects. All proposed public improvements and dedications are 

identified on the preliminary plat;  

 

COMMENT: 

 

The streets, sidewalks, and utilities have been designed to transition and/or conform with 

adjacent development. 

 

D.  All proposed private common areas and improvements (e.g. homeowners 

association property) are identified on the preliminary plat;  

 

 

 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 30 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 15 of 28 

 

COMMENT: 

 

The proposed private driveway (Tract A) is identified on the preliminary plat. Proposed Tract 

B is for preservation of trees/vegetation and is also shown on the preliminary plat. 

 

E.  Evidence that any required State and federal permits have been obtained, or 

shall be obtained before approval of the final plat;  

 

COMMENT: 

 

If required, any State and federal permits will be obtained prior to final plat.  At this time, 

no State or federal permits are required. 

 

F.  Evidence the improvements or conditions required by the City, road 

authority, Washington County, Clean Water Services, special districts, 

utilities, and/or other service providers, as applicable to the project, have 

been or can be met;  

 

COMMENT: 

 

Conditions will be met once they are received. 

 

G.  A Traffic Impact Study (TIS) has been provided, if applicable, in accordance 

with the provisions of Chapter 16.170; and  

 

COMMENT: 

 

A Traffic Impact Study has not been included at this time as it has not been requested by 

the City. 

 

H.  If any part of the site is located within a Specific Area Plan District, Overlay 

District, or previously approved Master Planned Development, it shall 

conform to the applicable regulations and/or conditions.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

The site is not in a Specific Area Plan District, Overlay District, or a previously approved 

Master Planned Development.   

 

 

16.135.012  Lot Access Provisions 

 

In addition to the provisions of this chapter, all lots and parcels shall conform to 

the specific requirements below, as applicable:  

 

A.  In conformance with the Uniform Fire Code (UFC), a 20-foot wide fire 

apparatus drive shall be provided to serve all portions of a building that are 

located more than 150 feet from a public right-of-way or approved access 

drive.  

B.  When a common drive is to be provided to serve more than one lot, a 

reciprocal easement which will ensure access and maintenance rights shall 

be recorded with the approved subdivision or partition plat. The minimum 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 31 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 16 of 28 

 

drive width shall be 10 to 15 feet, except as required by the UFC, and 

improved with an all- weather surface approved by the City.  

C.  Access reserve strips may be required to be granted to the City for the 

purpose of controlling access to adjoining undeveloped properties.  

D.  Street and building placement and alignment shall be designed so that all 

future street connections can be made as surrounding properties develop.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

Lots 2-4 will have shared access onto the proposed private driveway.  The private drive is 

proposed to be paved 20’ wide.  This private drive will provide fire access to lots 2-4. 

 

 

16.135.013  Flag Lot 

 

Flag lots may be created only when a through street or mid-block lanes cannot be 

extended to serve abutting uses or future development. A flag lot driveway (“flag 

pole”) may serve no more than two (2) dwellings units, including accessory 

dwellings and dwellings on individual lots, unless Uniform Fire Code (UFC) 

standards are met for more units. When UFC standards are met, the maximum 

number of dwellings shall be four (4). A driveway serving more than one lot shall 

be a minimum of 15 feet wide, except as required by the UFC, and have a 

reciprocal access and maintenance easement recorded for all lots. No fence, 

structure or other obstacle shall be placed within the drive area. The Fire Marshal 

may require an emergency turn-around. Fire sprinklers may also be required for 

buildings that cannot be fully served by fire hydrants due to distance from a 

hydrant of insufficient fire flow. 

 

COMMENT: 

 

Lots 3 and 4 are proposed flag lots as access through to the east, south or west is not 

feasible due to existing development (subdivisions) surrounding the site.  Lots 3 & 4 are flag 

lots (double flag) with a shared access.  Each flag lot has 10.50 feet of frontage on the 

private driveway (Tract A) with a shared width of 21 feet.  A 14’ wide reciprocal access 

easement is proposed over the flag pole portion of Lots 3 & 4. 

 

 

SECTION 16.145: PUBLIC FACILITY AND SERVICE REQUIREMENTS 

 

16.145.005  Application of Public Facility Standards  

 

The provisions of Chapter 16.145 Public Facility and Service Requirements shall 

apply to development within the City of North Plains as listed in the following 

table. No development permit shall be approved unless the following required 

improvements are provided to City standards prior to occupancy or operation 

unless an exception is approved by the City Council per Chapter 16.145.020 or 

future provision of the improvement is assured per Chapter 16.145.030. 

 

 

 

 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 32 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 17 of 28 

 

 Public Facilities Improvement Requirements Table  

 Fire 

Hydrants  

Street 

Improvements  

Water 

Line  

Sewer 

Line  

Storm 

Drainage 

& Trees  

Street 

Lights  

Partitions, 

Subdivisions 

and 

Manufactured 

Home Parks  

Y Y  Y  Y  Y  Y 

 

COMMENT: 

 

The subdivision has been designed to include street improvements, water, sewer, storm 

drainage, trees and street lights as required by code. 

 

 

16.145.010  Public Facility Standards  

 

The following public facility standards shall be applicable to all development as 

specified in the Application Review section of this chapter.  

 

A. Streets  

 

Street improvements required by Chapter 16.145.005 Public Facility & 

Service Standards shall be provided in compliance with Street Standards of 

this ordinance.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

NW North Avenue is proposed to be improved with additional pavement, curb, sidewalk and 

planter strip.  The design is proposed to match the existing street improvement to the east.  

The proposed private driveway is 20’ in width. 

 

B.  Storm Drainage  

 

No development permit shall be approved for any property until the City 

Engineer has reviewed and approved provisions for storm water drainage in 

accordance with the following criteria:  

 

1.  For storm drainage across or over the property on which the 

development is located, there are storm drainage facilities available 

which are capable of handling a one-hundred year flood without damage 

to any improvement on the property, or inundation of the lowest 

habitable floor of any residential structure thereon.  

 

2.  For storm drainage along or from streets adjacent to the property on 

which the development is located, there are storm drainage facilities 

available in accordance with the City of North Plains adopted street 

standard. 

 

 

 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 33 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 18 of 28 

 

COMMENT: 

 

The existing storm drainage ditch in North Avenue is proposed to be replaced with a storm 

drainage line extension from the existing line to the east to the western edge of the subject 

property, then to the existing ditch to the west. Storm drainage for Lots 2-4 will be 

connected to the existing storm line south of the site in an easement at the rear of these 

lots.  Storm drainage for the private driveway will be provided by a catch basin and a storm 

line between Lots 2 and 3 to the south. 

 

C.  Sewage Disposal  

 

No development permit shall be approved until the City Engineer and Clean 

Water has reviewed and approved provisions for connection to the public 

sewer system.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

There is an existing sanitary line in North Avenue.  The existing house will retain its 

connection to this sanitary line and Lot 1 will also connect to the sanitary line in North 

Avenue.  A sanitary extension from the existing sanitary line south of the site in the private 

drive and utility easement will be extended on the site in a utility easement across the rear 

of Lots 2-4.  Lots 2-4 will have sanitary laterals to this extension. 

 

D.  Water Supply  

 

No development permit shall be approved for any property unless all 

affected water mains are either:  

 

1.  Fully improved to a standard providing both adequate potable water and 

fire flows, as established by the applicable State Plumbing Code and 

approved by the City Engineer; or  

2.  Improved to a standard providing adequate potable water flows 

pursuant to the City Water Master Plan and approved by the City 

Engineer and the Fire Chief for Washington County Fire District No.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

The existing house has a water meter from the existing 2” water line in NW North Avenue.  

A water line extension to the existing 8” line east of the site in North Avenue is proposed to 

the western property line.  The existing dwelling will have a new water meter to connect to 

the new water line and the existing water meter to the 2” line will be abandoned.  Four new 

water meters are proposed for Lots 1-4. 

 

 

SECTION 16.150: STREET STANDARDS 

 

16.150.005  Scope  

 

The provisions of this Subsection shall be applicable to:  

 

A.  The construction, dedication or creation of all new public or private streets 

in all subdivisions, partitions or other developments in the City of North 

Plains.  

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 34 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 19 of 28 

 

B.  The extension or widening of existing public or private street rights-of-way, 

easements, or street improvements, including those which may be proposed 

by an individual or the City, or which may be required by the City in 

association with other development approvals.  

C.  The construction or modification of any utilities or sidewalks in public 

rights-of-way or private street easements.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

NW North Avenue is proposed to be improved with additional pavement, curb, sidewalk and 

planter strip.  The design is proposed to match the existing street improvement to the east.  

The proposed private driveway is 20’ in width. 

 

 

16.150.010  General Provisions  

 

The following general provisions shall apply to the dedication, construction, 

improvement or other development of all public streets in the City of North Plains:  

 

A.  The location, width, and grade of streets shall be considered in their relation 

to existing and planned streets, to topographical conditions, to public 

convenience and safety, and to the proposed use of the land to be served by 

the streets.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

NW North Avenue is proposed to be improved with additional pavement, curb, sidewalk and 

planter strip.  The design is proposed to match the existing street improvement to the east.  

The proposed private driveway is 20’ in width. 

 

B.  Development proposals shall provide for the continuation of existing 

principal streets where necessary to promote appropriate traffic circulation 

in the vicinity of the development.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

NW North Avenue is proposed to be improved with additional pavement, curb, sidewalk and 

planter strip.  The design is proposed to match the existing street improvement to the east.  

The proposed private driveway is 20’ in width. 

 

C.  Reserve strips: Reserve strips or street plugs controlling the access to 

streets will not be approved unless necessary for the protection of the 

public welfare or of substantial property rights, and in these cases they may 

be required. The control and disposal of the land composing such strips 

shall be placed within the jurisdiction of the City under conditions approved 

by the Planning Commission.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

No reserve strips are proposed. 

 

D.  Alignment: All streets other than minor streets or cul-de-sacs, as far as 

practical, shall be in alignment with existing streets by continuation of the 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 35 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 20 of 28 

 

center lines thereof. The staggering of street alignments resulting in "T" 

intersections shall, wherever practical, leave a minimum distance of 200 

feet between the center lines of streets having approximately the same 

direction and otherwise shall not be less than 100 feet.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

The proposed private driveway is proposed to align with NW North Avenue in a “T” 

intersection and is at least 100 feet from any other intersection along the south side of NW 

North Avenue. 

 

E.  Future extension of streets: Where necessary to give access to or permit a 

satisfactory future development of adjoining land, streets shall be extended 

to the boundary of a tract being developed and the resulting dead-end 

streets may be approved without turnarounds. Reserve strips and street 

plugs may be required to preserve the objectives of street extensions.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

No new streets are proposed. The proposed private driveway is not extended to provide 

access to the south due to existing development. 

 

F.  Intersection angles: Streets shall be laid out to intersect at angles as near 

to right angles as practical, except where topography requires lesser angle, 

but in no case shall the acute angle be less than 80 degrees unless there is a 

special intersection design. An arterial or collector street intersecting with 

another street shall have at least 100 feet of centerline tangent adjacent to 

the intersection unless topography requires a lesser distance. Other streets, 

except alleys, shall have at least 50 feet of tangent adjacent to the 

intersection unless topography requires a lesser distance. Intersections 

which contain an acute angle of less than 80 degrees or which include an 

arterial or collector street shall have a minimum corner radius sufficient to 

allow for a roadway radius of 20 feet and maintain a uniform width between 

the roadway and the right-of-way line. All other intersections shall have a 

minimum corner radius sufficient to allow for a roadway radius of 10 feet 

and maintain a uniform width between the roadway and the right-of-way 

line. Ordinarily, the intersection of more than two streets at any one point 

will not be approved.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

No new streets are proposed.  The proposed private driveway is designed to intersect with 

NW North Avenue at a right angle. 

 

G.  Existing streets: Whenever existing public streets adjacent to or within a 

tract are of inadequate width, additional right-of-way shall be provided at 

the time of subdivision or development.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

NW North Avenue currently has 30’ of right-of-way to centerline.  Therefore, the subdivision 

is proposing a 7’ wide dedication along North Avenue to get the right-of-way to 37’ from 

centerline.   

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 36 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 21 of 28 

 

 

H.  Cul-de-sacs: Cul-de-sacs shall be as short as possible, and shall have 

maximum lengths of 600 feet and shall not serve more than 20 dwelling 

units. All cul-de-sacs shall terminate with circular turnarounds. Commercial 

and industrial cul-de-sacs shall have a minimum 55' bulb radius. Additional 

cul-de-sac specifications, including specifications for residential cul-de-sacs, 

are contained within the most recently adopted public works/street 

standards of the City of North Plains and/or Washington County 

development standards.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

No cul-de-sacs are proposed.  Therefore, this standard is not applicable. 

 

I.  Street names: No street names shall be used which will duplicate or be 

confused with the names of existing streets, except for extensions of 

existing streets. Street names and number shall conform to the established 

pattern in the City and shall be subject to the approval of the Planning 

Commission.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

No new streets are proposed.  Therefore, this standard is not applicable.  

 

J.  Grades and curves: Grades shall not exceed 6 percent on arterials, 10 

percent on collector streets or 12 percent on any other street. Center line 

radii of curves shall not be less than 300 feet on arterials, 200 feet on 

collectors or 100 feet on other streets, and shall be to an even 10 feet. 

Where existing conditions, particularly topography, make it otherwise 

impractical to provide buildable sites, the Planning Commission may accept 

steeper grades and sharper curves. In flat areas, allowance shall be made 

for finished street grades having a minimum slope of 0.5 percent.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

No new streets are proposed.  The street improvements to NW North Avenue will not affect 

the existing grade. 

 

K.  Marginal access streets: If a development abuts or contains an existing or 

proposed arterial street, the Planning Commission may require marginal 

access streets, reverse frontage lots with suitable depth, screen planting 

contained in a non-access reservation along the rear or side property line, 

or such other treatment as may be necessary for adequate protection of 

residential properties and to afford separation of through and local traffic.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

A marginal access street is not proposed or required.  

 

L.  Alleys: Alleys shall be provided in commercial and industrial districts unless 

other permanent provisions for access to off-street parking and loading 

facilities are made as approved by the Planning Commission. While alley 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 37 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 22 of 28 

 

intersections and sharp changes in alignment shall be avoided, the corners 

of necessary alley intersections shall have radii of not less than 10 feet.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

No alleys are proposed.  Therefore, this standard is not applicable. 

 

M.  Sidewalks shall be a minimum of five feet in width. Curbs and sidewalks 

shall be required along both sides of all public streets. All new development 

upon lots, tracts or parcels of land adjacent to a public street will be 

required to construct curbs and sidewalks.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

Sidewalk along the site’s NW North Avenue is proposed and meets the standards above. 

 

N.  Street trees, where provided, shall not be of a species which has a shallow 

spreading root system which is likely to disturb sidewalk or street 

improvements.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

If street trees are required along the site’s NW North Avenue frontage, they will comply with 

this standard. 

 

O.  Access Spacing Standards shall, to the greatest extent possible, comply with 

Washington County’s standards and the most recently adopted public 

works/street standards of the City of North Plains. Washington County’s 

access spacing standards by street functional classification are as follows:  

 

Major Arterial: 1,000 feet  

Minor Arterial: 600 feet 

Major Collector: 150 feet  

Minor Collector: 50 feet  

Local Street: 10 feet 

 

COMMENT: 

 

No new streets are proposed.  Therefore, this standard is not applicable.  

 

 

16.150.115  General Right-of-Way and Improvement Widths  

 

Construction specifications for all street and right-of-way improvement widths 

shall comply with the criteria of the most recently adopted public works/street 

standards of the City of North Plains, the North Plains Transportation System Plan, 

and/or Washington County standards. These standards shall be the minimum 

requirements for all streets, except where modifications are permitted under this 

chapter or the Street Standard adopted by the City Council of North Plains, 

whichever is less restrictive. Refer to Figures 5-2A-5-2P in the Transportation 

System Plan for detailed diagrams depicting street right-of-way, improved, and 

roadway width requirements. 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 38 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 23 of 28 

 

COMMENT: 

 

NW North Avenue is proposed to be improved with additional pavement, curb, sidewalk and 

planter strip.  The design is proposed to match the existing street improvement to the east.  

The proposed private street is 20’ in width. 

 

 

SECTION 16.155: OFF-STREET PARKING AND LOADING 

 

16.155.015  Automotive Parking Requirements  

 

A.  Residential  

1.  Detached single family Two (2) spaces per dwelling unit 

 

 

COMMENT: 

 

Parking for the existing house on Lot 5 will continue to be provided in the existing garage 

and driveway. At least 2 off-street parking spaces will be provided for the proposed new 

dwellings on Lots 1-4 with one in the driveway and one in the garage.  This standard is 

satisfied. 

 

 

SECTION 16.160: CLEAR VISION AREAS 

 

16.160.000  Requirements  

 

Except in the C-1 zone, a clear vision area shall be maintained on the corners of all 

property adjacent to the intersection of two streets, a street and a railroad, or a 

driveway providing vehicular access to a public street, including alleys.  

 

A.  Lots or parcels on street corners (public and/or private) shall maintain a 

sight triangle with no sight obstruction between three (3) feet and ten (10) 

feet in height as measured from street grade. Sight obstructions include, 

but are not limited to, fences, vegetation, berms, signs and structures. The 

sight triangle shall be measured from the street corner (apex), to a distance 

of twenty (20) feet along each street side (see Figure 1). For the purpose of 

this Section, a street corner is defined as that point where the extended 

edges of the road surface of two intersecting streets meet. The City may 

require additional vision clearance based on a hazard identified by the City. 

However, tree trunks and sign poles not exceeding 12 inches in diameter 

may be located within the vision clearance area, provided the diameter does 

not exceed 24 inches.  

 

B.  A private access shall be treated as a public street for the purpose of this 

section. The vision clearance area shall be determined in the manner set 

forth form in Chapter 16.160.000.010(A). The edge of the paved surface 

area of the private access, be it roadway, curb or sidewalk, shall be treated 

as the right-of-way line in determining the vision clearance area. 

 

COMMENT: 

 

Site vision triangles are provided at the intersection of the private driveway and NW North 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 39 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 24 of 28 

 

Avenue.   

 

 

SECTION 16.170: APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS AND REVIEW PROCEDURES 

 

16.170.000  General Provisions  

 

The following lists set forth the type of review procedure for administrative and 

land use applications:  

  

B.  Type II Land Use Permit by City Planner  

 

8.  Minor Variance Permit up to 10% of the standard  

 

C.  Type III Quasi-Judicial Permits by Planning Commission  

 

14. Subdivision Permit  

16.   Variance Permit 

 

COMMENT: 

 

The applicant is proposing a 5-lot subdivision (Type III review).  The applicant is also 

requesting two minor adjustments to lot area for Lots 1-4 and lot width for Lots 1, 3 & 4 

(Type II review).  The applicant is requesting a standard variance to lot width for Lot 2 

(Type III review).  

 

 

16.170.001  Pre-application Conference  

 

A pre-application conference is recommended for a Type II, III and IV permit. The 

applicant shall file the appropriate application, pay the review fee and meet with 

the City Planner, other city staff and affected agencies. At the conference the City 

Planner shall identify the relevant comprehensive plan policies, map designations, 

zone and development standards and procedural requirements applicable to the 

application. The planner and affected agencies shall provide technical data and 

identify opportunities or constraints concerning the application.  

 

Failure of the City to provide any information required by this section does not 

constitute a waiver of any of the standards, criteria or requirements for the 

application. Due to possible changes in federal, state, regional and local law, the 

applicant is responsible for assuring the application complies with all applicable 

laws on the day the application is deemed complete. 

 

COMMENT: 

 

A formal pre-application meeting was not held.  The applicant did contact the City to have a 

pre-app and was directed to move forward with the application after reviewing the proposed 

plan via email. 

 

 

 

 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 40 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 25 of 28 

 

16.170.002  Neighborhood Meeting  

 

Applicants or their representatives are encouraged to meet with adjacent property 

owners and neighborhood representatives prior to submitting an application to the 

City in order to solicit input and exchange information about the proposed 

development. The applicant for a Type III application is encouraged to hold a 

neighborhood meeting with a recognized neighborhood or community 

organization. If no organization exists, then the applicant is encouraged to hold a 

meeting with adjacent property owners within a radius of 250 feet who will 

receive public notice. 

 

COMMENT: 

 

A neighborhood meeting was held for this proposed subdivision on October 2, 2013. 

 

 

16.170.003 Traffic Impact Study  

 

The purpose of this section of the code is to assist in determining which road 

authorities participate in a land use decision, and to implement Section 660-012-

0045 (2) of the State Transportation Planning Rule that requires the City to apply 

conditions to development proposals in order to minimize impacts and protect 

transportation facilities. This Chapter establishes the standards for when a 

proposal must be reviewed for potential traffic impacts; when a Traffic Impact 

Study must be submitted with a development application in order to determine 

whether conditions are needed to minimize impacts to and protect transportation 

facilities; what must be in a Traffic Impact Study; and who is qualified to prepare 

the Study. 

 

A.  When a Traffic Impact Study is required. The City or other road authority 

with jurisdiction may require a Traffic Impact Study (TIS) as part of an 

application for development, a change in use, or a change in access. A TIS 

shall be required when a land use application involves one or more of the 

following actions:  

 

1.  A change in zoning or a plan amendment designation;  

2.  Any proposed development of land use action that a road authority 

states may have operational or safety concerns along its facility;  

3.  An increase in site traffic volume generation by 300 Average Daily Trips 

(ADT) or more; or  

4.  An increase in site traffic volume of a particular movement to and from 

the State Highway by 20 percent or more; or  

5.  An increase in use of adjacent streets by vehicles exceeding the 20,000 

pound gross vehicle weights by 10 vehicles or more per day; or  

6.  The location of the access driveway does not meet minimum sight 

distance requirements, or is located where vehicles entering or leaving 

the property are restricted, or such vehicles queue or hesitate on the 

State Highway, creating a safety hazard; or  

7.  A change in internal traffic patterns that may cause safety problems, 

such as back up onto a street or greater potential for traffic accidents.  

 

 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 41 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 26 of 28 

 

COMMENT: 

 

A Traffic Impact Study has not been included at this time as it has not been requested by 

the City.  The increase in site traffic (4 new dwellings) will have a volume generation of less 

than 300 Average Daily Trips.  Average Daily Trips for the 6 new dwellings will be 39 trips. 

 

 

SECTION 16.185: VARIANCES 

 

16.185.010  Review Criteria 

 

A variance may be authorized upon adequate demonstration by the applicant that 

the proposed variance satisfies the following criteria: 

 

A. That special conditions and circumstances exist which are peculiar to the 

land, building or structure involved;  

 

COMMENT: 

 

The applicant is requesting a variance to the minimum lot width for Lot 2.  The proposed lot 

width is 46.52’, which is a reduction of 22.5% of the 60’ minimum of the R-7.5 zone. The 

shape of the existing lot and the existing house and many mature trees to remain impacts 

the way the lot can be divided as a subdivision.  The existing lot line along the southern 

property line is only 160.08 feet in width.  Therefore, there is not enough distance to have 

three 60’ wide lots along this property line. Density for the site allows for 5 lots.  

 

B.  That granting the proposed variance would be in the public interest and 

would be in harmony with the purpose of the underlying zoning district and 

the intent and purpose of this Ordinance;  

 

COMMENT: 

 

The proposed variance allows for a single-family dwelling on a lot, which complies with the 

purpose of the R-7.5 zone.  The variance is in the public interest as it allows for a variety of 

lots and will provide for another single-family dwelling to the community, thus providing 

more housing stock and tax base. 

 

C.  That the variance would result in minimal detriment to the immediate 

vicinity;  

 

COMMENT: 

 

The proposed variance to the minimum lot width for Lot 2 will not be detrimental to the 

immediate area.  The variance allows for the existing dwelling to remain and some large 

trees to remain on-site and for the site to have a density of 5 units.   

 

D.  That the variance requested is the minimum variance which would make 

possible the reasonable use of the applicant's land, building or structure; 

and 

 

 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 42 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 27 of 28 

 

COMMENT: 

 

The proposed variance (along with the proposed administrative variances) is the minimum 

variance that allows for the site to be developed with a density of 5 units, which is the 

reasonable and allowed use of the land. 

 

E.  That the special conditions and circumstances on which the application is 

based do not result from the negligent or knowing violation of this 

Ordinance by the applicant. 

 

COMMENT: 

 

There is no violation of this Ordinance by the applicant.   

 
 

16.185.015  Administrative Review Criteria  

 

Minor variances, not to exceed 10%, from lot size, depth, width, area, coverage, 

landscaping and setback standards may be authorized administratively upon 

adequate demonstration by the applicant that the proposed variance satisfies the 

following criteria; administrative variances shall be processed in accordance with 

Application Review section of this chapter:  

 

A.  That special conditions and circumstances, such as lot shape and 

configuration, exist which are peculiar to the land, building or structure 

involved;  

 

COMMENT: 

 

The applicant is requesting two minor variances.  First, lot area for Lots 1-4 is proposed to 

be 6,750 sq. ft. or 90% of the required minimum lot area for the R-7.5 zone.  The shape of 

the existing lot and the existing house to remain impacts the way the lot can be divided as a 

subdivision.  Due to being surrounded by development the only way to access the southern 

portion of the site is to provide access in the middle of the lot as the existing house is 

proposed to remain on Lot 5.  Lot 5 is a larger lot due to the location of the dwelling and 

garage on the existing lot.  Density for the site allows for 5 lots. 

 

Second, lot width for Lots 1, 3 & 4 are proposed to be reduced by 2.4% to 9.2%.  The 

shape of the existing lot and the existing house to remain impacts the way the lot can be 

divided as a subdivision.  The existing lot line along the southern property line is only 

160.08 feet in width.  Therefore, there is not enough distance to have three 60’ wide lots 

along this property line. Density for the site allows for 5 lots.  

 

B.  That the variance would result in minimal detriment to the immediate 

vicinity.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

The proposed adjustments to the minimum lot area for Lots 1-4 and minimum lot width for 

Lots 1, 3 & 4 will not be detrimental to the immediate area.  The adjustments allow for the 

existing dwelling to remain and some large trees to remain on-site.   

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 43 of 138



                  NW North Subdivision  

Page 28 of 28 

 

C.  An application for an Administrative Variance is limited to one lot per 

application.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

The applicant is requesting an administrative variance to minimum lot area for Lots 1-4 and 

to minimum lot width for Lots 1, 3 & 4.  Therefore, there are technically 7 separate 

administrative variances per this standard. 

 

D.  No more than three Administrative Variances may be approved for one lot or 

parcel in 12 months.  

 

COMMENT: 

 

Lots 1, 3 and 4 are proposed to have two administrative variances and Lot 2 is proposed to 

have one administrative variance. 

 

 

V. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS 

 

Based upon the findings of this report and the submitted supplemental graphics material, 

the applicant has demonstrated compliance with the requirements of the relevant sections 

of the North Plains Zoning and Development Ordinance for the requested 5-lot subdivision in 

the R-7.5 District.  Therefore, the request should be approved. 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 44 of 138



    AGENDA ITEM NO._6____ 

 

  

 

STAFF REPORT 

Date:  July 17, 2013 

To:  Planning Commission 

From:  Martha DeBry, City Manager 

Subject:  Proposed Biggi Subdivision at 31970 NW North Street 

REQUEST: Preliminary Plat Approval for a 5-Lot Single family residential 
subdivision 

 

APPLICANT: Vince Biggi, Biggi Construction, LLC, 11605 SW Normandy 

Lane, Wilsonville, OR 97070 

 

APPLICANT’S  Neil Fernando, PE, Emerio Design 
REPRESENTATIVE: 6107 SW Murray Blvd., Suite 147, Beaverton, Oregon 

97008 

 

SITE LEGAL   

DESCRIPTION:  Tax Lot 400; Tax Map 1N3 01BD North Plains, Oregon 
 

SIZE:  0.96 Acres 
 

LOCATION: 31790 NW North Avenue 
 

LAND- USE DISTRICT: R-7.5 
 

 General Vicinity 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 45 of 138



 Aerial View 

 

Existing Garage 

 

 

Existing House 

 

It should be noted 

all vacant lots to 

south have been 

built out since aerial 

photo was 

completed.  

 Subdivision Layout 

 

North Avenue is at 

the top.  A private 

driveway leads to 

flag lots 2, 3, and 4.  

Lot 1 and 5 face 

North Avenue.  

 

Tract B is facing 

North Avenue. 

 

Private driveway to 

be shared by Lots 2, 

3 and 4 

 

Flagpole drive 

between Lots 3 and 

4 

 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 46 of 138



I. APPLICABLE  REGULATIONS 

 

A. City of North Plains Comprehensive Plan 
B. North Plains Zoning and Development Ordinance:  

Chapter 16.25: Zoning District R-7.5 
Chapter 16.125: Lot Development Standards 

Chapter 16.135: Subdivisions 

Chapter 16.145: Public Facility and Service Requirements 

Chapter 16.150: Street Standards 
Chapter 16.155: Off-Street Parking & Loading 

Chapter 16.160: Clear Vision Areas 

Chapter 16.170: Application Requirements and Review Procedures 

Chapter 16.185: Variance 

 
II. AFFECTED JURISDICTIONS 

 

Domestic Water:  City of North 
Plains Drainage:  Clean Water 
Services Erosion Control: Clean Water 

Services Fire Protection: WC #2 
Parks:  City of North Plains 

Police Protection:  City of North Plains  

Schools:  Hillsboro School District  

Sewer:  Clean Water Services  

Streets:  City of North Plains 

Water Quality/Quantity: Clean Water Services 

 
III. BACKGROUND: 

 

The applicant is requesting preliminary plat approval for a 5-lot subdivision of 
a 0.96 acre lot designated R-7.5 on the City of North Plains Zoning Map.  The 
subject property is identified by the Washington County Assessor as Tax Lot 

1N301BD00400, and is commonly known as 31790 NW North Avenue.   

 

The existing house and detached garage is proposed to remain on Lot 5 with 
access from NW North Avenue.  The proposed new single-family detached 

dwelling on Lot 1 will have direct access onto NW North Avenue.  Lots 2 - 4 

will take access off a shared private driveway (Tract A). 

 

The abutting properties are all within the R-7.5 District.  The applicant is 
proposing dedication and street improvements along the site’s NW North 

Avenue frontage.  The property to the north is an area of unincorporated 
County land within the City’s Urban Growth Boundary.  

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 47 of 138



All necessary utilities (i.e., power, sanitary sewer, water, etc.) are presently 

available to the site, as illustrated on the preliminary utility plan.  

 

IV.  FINDINGS 

 
A. NORTH PLAINS COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  

 
FINDING:  Except where required by the North Plains Zoning and Development 

Ordinance, this application is not required to address the city’s goals and 
policies related to the development of land, since the North Plains 

Comprehensive Plan is implemented by the municipal code. 

 

B. NORTH PLAINS ZONING AND DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE  

 

SECTION 16.20:  ZONING DISTRICT R-7.5 

 

16.20.000 Purpose: The purpose of the R7.5 District is to provide for the 

development of single family uses and limited multi-family residential 
uses, and to implement the housing policies of the Comprehensive Plan. 

 
FINDING:  The proposed subdivision site is 0.96 gross acres in area.  The 
applicant is proposing a 5-lot subdivision for single-family detached dwellings. 

This standard is met. 

 
16.20.005 Permitted Uses:  Permitted Uses subject to the 
requirements of the Design Review section of this chapter, if 

applicable.  Refer to Zoning Code Use Table. 
 

I.  Single family detached dwelling 

 
FINDING:  The applicant is proposing the existing detached dwelling remain 
on proposed Lot 5.  Four new detached single-family dwellings are proposed. 

Therefore, the standards for 16.20.005 is satisfied. 
 

16.20.015 Dimensional Standards:  The following dimensional 
standards are the minimum requirements for all development in the 

R7.5 District except for modifications permitted under Lot, Building, & 
Yard Exceptions or Planned Unit Development sections of this chapter. 

In addition, a minor adjustment of up to 10% of the required setback, 

area, lot size, lot depth or lot width may be granted by the City Planner 
pursuant to Variance Review section of this chapter. 

 
FINDING:  The applicant is requesting minor variances to lot area for Lots 1-
4 and lot width for Lots 1, 3 and 4.  The applicant is also requesting a variance 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 48 of 138



to the lot width of Lot 2. As proposed the other dimensional standards of 

16.125.015 have been satisfied, except that Tract B is proposed as a non-
conforming lot for the preservation of the existing trees. 

A.  Lot/Parcel Size 

1.  Single family detached dwelling - 7,500 square feet minimum 

3.  9,000 square feet maximum for lots created by subdivision 

 
FINDING:  As proposed Lot 5 where the existing house is located is 9,000 

square feet in area.  Tract B, which is only 1,503 square feet was created to 
ensure that Lot 5 did not exceed the 9,000 square foot maximum.  The existing 

home, which was constructed in 1925 is set back a large distance from North 

Avenue.  A circular driveway which is located between the trees on Tract B is 
used by the current residents.  The applicant has confirmed that the owner of 

Lot 5 is most likely to become the owner of Tract B.  Staff is recommending a 
variance to the lot maximum be granted for Lot 5, and Tract B be incorporated 

into lot 5, resulting in a total square footage of 10,503 square feet.  This 
variance ensures that a non-conforming lot is not created, and provides 

continuity in the appearance of the property from North Avenue.  Lots 1-4 are 
requested to have a 10% minor var iance to reduce the  lot area to  6,750 

sq. ft. in area (without the flag pole portion of the lots).  The minor 
va r i an ce  requests is addressed with 16.185. This standard is satisfied. 

 
B.  Lot/Parcel Depth and Width 

1. The minimum average lot width shall be 60 feet. 

2. The minimum lot depth shall be 80 feet. 

 
FINDING:  Lots 1, 3 and 4 are requested to have up to a 9.2% minor variance 

to the lot width requirement of 60 feet.  Lot 2 is requested to have a standard 
variance to the lot width requirement. The adjustments and variance are 

addressed below in 16.185.  All 5 lots meet the minimum lot depth of 80 feet.  

 

C.  Minimum Setback Requirements 

1. Principle structures, accessory dwellings, and accessory 
structures with a floor area greater than 200 square feet shall 

maintain the following minimum yard setbacks except that 
development on flag lots shall be subject to the setback 

standards of 16.125.010. 

2.  Front Yard (Principle structure) 20 feet 

3. Garages, carports, accessory dwellings and accessory 
structures shall be flush with, or recessed behind, the front 

building elevation of the principle structure. 

4. Rear Yard 

•  10 feet for street-access lots 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 49 of 138



•  6 feet for alley-access lots 

•  5 feet for Accessory Structures and Accessory Dwellings 

5.  Side Yard (interior) 5 feet 

Side Yard (adjacent to street) 10 feet plus additional necessary 
to comply with the standards of the Clear Vision Areas section of 

this chapter. 

Accessory Structures and Accessory Dwellings only require a 

5 foot Side Yard (adjacent to street) setback, except as provided 
for in 16.105. 

Flag Lots approved 10 feet for all yards, except pursuant to 
16.125.010, that the yard facing the garage door shall be a 

minimum of 20 feet, except as otherwise provided in this 

chapter. 

 
FINDING:  The existing house is compliant with these standards. Setbacks are 

shown on the submitted site plan.  The new single-family dwellings will be 
required to meet the standards above at building permit review and issuance. 

 

D. Height of  Buildings 

 

Buildings shall not exceed a height of 35 feet or two and a half 
stories, whichever is less.  Accessory dwellings (excluding 

accessory structures) shall not exceed 25 feet in height. 

 

FINDING:  The existing house is compliant with this standard.  The new 
single-family dwellings will be required to meet the height standard above at 

building permit review and issuance. 

 
E.  Lot/Parcel Coverage 

 

In the R7.5 District, the maximum lot coverage shall not exceed 
sixty five (65) percent of the total area of any lot.  

 

FINDING:  The existing dwelling does not exceed the 65% coverage standard. 
All new dwellings will be required to meet the lot coverage standard at building 
permit review and issuance. 

 

16.20.020 Parking Requirements 

 
At least two (2) off-street parking spaces shall be provided for each single 

family detached dwelling unit.  Parking requirements for all other uses 
are specified in Off Street Parking and Loading of this chapter. 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 50 of 138



FINDING:  Parking for the existing house on Lot 5 will continue to be provided 

in the existing garage and driveway.  At least 2 off-street parking spaces will 
be provided for the proposed new dwellings on Lots 1-4 with one in the 

driveway and one in the garage.  This standard is satisfied. 

 
16.20.025 Development Standards 

 
A. The following standards will be applied to all single family 

dwellings (site-built, modular and manufactured homes) to be 
constructed or located in the City of North Plains: 

 

All single family units shall utilize at least two of the following 
design features to provide visual relief along the front of the 

home: 

1.  dormers; 

2.  gables; 

3.  recessed entries; 

4.  covered porch entries; 

5.  cupolas; 

6.  pillars or posts; 

7.  bay or bow windows; 

8.  eaves (minimum 6" projection); 

9.  offsets on building face or roof (minimums 16"); 

 
FINDING:  Each new dwelling will be required to comply with these standards 

of 16.20.025 at building permit review and issuance.  Specific building plans 
are unknown at this time. 

 
SECTION 16.125:   LOT DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

 
16.125.005 Scope 

 

The provisions of this subsection shall apply to all partitions and 
subdivisions within the City of North Plains. 

 

FINDING:  The applicant is proposing a 5-lot subdivision. Therefore, Section 
16.125.005 is applicable. 

 
16.125.010 Standards  for  Lots 

 

A.  Minimum lot area: 

 
Minimum lot area shall conform to the requirements of the 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 51 of 138



zoning district in which the lot is located. 

 

FINDING:  With variances all lots conform to the requirements of 7.5 zone. 

 
B.  Access: 

 

All lots created after the effective date of this Ordinance shall 
provide a minimum of 20 feet of frontage on an existing or 

proposed public street, with the following exception: 
 

Flag lots, accessed by a private driveway, may be permitted by 
the Planning Commission when any of the following conditions 

are met: 

a. The subject property is surrounded by developed properties 

and the terrain, shape of the parcel, or the location of existing 
structures precludes accessing the property with a public 

street. 

b. The proposed flag lot(s) front on the arc of a cul-de-sac… 

c. The subject property is located in the Commercial or 

Industrial Zoning District… 

d. The Planning Commission finds that the use of flag lots is 

necessary due to conditions of terrain or other physical 

features of the property. 

e. The Planning Commission finds that the use of flag lots 

accessing from a collector or local street is preferable to 
direct access from an arterial street. 

 
FINDING:  Lots 1 and 5 will have at least 20 feet of frontage on a public street, 

North Avenue.  All lots are surrounded by developed properties which preclude 
accessing the property from a public street.  Sections 16.125.010.B (b and c) 

are not applicable.   
 

Lots 2, 3 and 4 are in a location that precludes the construction of 
standard size a public street.  The applicant proposed that the 20 foot 

frontage of Tract A be assigned to Lot 2, thereby making it a 
conforming lot.  Because Lots 2, 3 and 4 must share the driveway that is 

Tract A, all three lots should be designated as flag lots.  The entire frontage 

of the property on North Avenue is 160 feet wide.  Lot 5 requires 
approximately 90 feet of the frontage.  As a practical matter, there is not 

sufficient space to provide a 20 foot frontage for the remaining 4 lots, and 
flag lots are a desirable solution to minimize the appearance of driveways 

and allow development of the property. . 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 52 of 138



C.  Flag Lots: 

 

When authorized by the Planning Commission pursuant to the 
access requirements of Subsection Chapter 16.125.010 (B)(1), 
flag lots shall be subject to the following development standards: 

a) The access strip shall be a minimum of 15 feet in width, except as 
required by the Uniform Fire Code.  The improved surface 

shall be a minimum of 12 feet in width, except as required by 
the Uniform Fire Code.  A three-foot wide landscaped planter 

strip shall be provided between the access strip and the side lot 
line of the neighboring lot. 

b) The access strip shall not be included in the calculation of lot 
area for purposes of determining compliance with any 

minimum lot size provision of this Ordinance. 

c) The access strip shall be in fee ownership of the property 
provided access and shall not be as an easement.  In the case 

of multiple lots having the same access strip, all lots served 
shall have ownership of an equal amount of the access strip.  

There shall be provided an easement over the remainder of 
the access strip for each property served. 

d) The length of the access strip is subject to the requirements of 

the Uniform Fire Code, but shall not exceed 200 feet. 

e) Where more than one flag lots abut, access shall be via a shared 

drive wherever possible.  The shared drive access strip  shall  
be a minimum of 20 feet in width for two lots, and increased 

by 5 foot increments for each additional lot, with a maximum 

of four lots having access off of one access strip, except as 
required by the Uniform Fire Code. The improved surface 

shall be a minimum of 16 feet in width for two lots and 
increased by four feet for each additional lot, except as 

required by the Uniform Fire Code.  A two foot wide vegetated 
planter strip shall be provided between the access strip and 

the abutting side lot lines. 

f) Setbacks in Residential Zoning Districts. Subsequent 

development on flag lots in the R-7.5, R-5 and R-2.5 zoning 
districts shall provide minimum front, rear and side yard 

setbacks of 10 feet, except that the yard facing the garage door 

or carport entrance shall be a minimum of 20 feet.  

 

FINDING:  Lots 2, 3 and 4 are flag lots with a shared access.  The access 

strip is proposed at 21 feet, and the area is not included in the 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 53 of 138



calculation of the area of lots 2, 3, and 4.  As a condition of 

approval, each flag lot shall share ownership of Tract A in equal 
proportions and provide access easements as per 16.125.010.C.c.  A 

reciprocal access easement is also proposed for the flag pole portion of the 
access to Lot 4 across Lot 3.  The length of the access strip is less than 

200 feet.  The proposed access strip is 21 feet, which is 4 feet more 
narrow than prescribed by 16.125.010.C.e, and has been approved 

by Washington County Fire District #2.  As a condition of approval 
the paved width must be a minimum of 15 feet, and 3 foot wide 

planter strip shall be recorded along the east boundary of Lot 1 and 
west boundary of Lot 5.  Setbacks for the flag lots have been shown as 10 

feet with a 20-foot garage setback.   

 
D. Through Lots:  Through lots shall be avoided except where essential 

to provide separation of residential development from major 
traffic arteries, adjacent nonresidential activities, or to overcome 

specific disadvantages of topography and orientation. Screening 

or buffering may be required by the Planning Commission during 
the review of the land division request. 

 
FINDING:  No through lots are proposed. 

 

E. Lot Side Lines: The side lines  of lots, as far as practicable, shall  run 
at right angles  to the street  upon which the lots face. 

 
FINDING:  Side lot lines are proposed to run at right angles to North Avenue. 

 
F.   Lot Grading:  Lot grading shall conform to the requirements of 

Chapter 70 of the Uniform Building Code, hereby adopted by 

reference, and to the following standards unless physical 
conditions demonstrate the propriety of other standards: 

a. Cut slopes shall not exceed one and one-half feet horizontally 
to one foot vertically. 

b. Fill slopes shall not exceed two feet horizontally to one foot 
vertically. 

c. The character of soil for fill and the characteristics of lots and 
parcels made usable by fill shall be suitable for the purpose 

intended. 

 
FINDING:  Lot grading will be minimal as the site is quite flat.  Lot grading 

will include grading for the building pads and driveway as needed. 

 
G. Large Lots: In dividing tracts into large lots which at some future 

time are likely to be re-divided, the applicant's tentative plan shall 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 54 of 138



also demonstrate that any redevelopment or re-subdivision may 

readily take place at the planned residential density without 
violating the requirements of this ordinance. 

 
FINDING:  None of the proposed lots are large enough that they could be 
further subdivided based on the current zoning.  

 
H. Land for Public Process: Where a proposed park, school or other 

public use indicated on the Comprehensive Plan is located in whole 
or in part within a subdivision, the sub-divider shall dedicate and 

reserve said area for such purpose.  Where the City or other public 
authority has declared its intention to acquire said area, it shall 

proceed to perfect the title or a contract right to the same within 
three (3) years from the date of platting, and failing such, this 

reservation shall automatically expire.  The public body shall 
expeditiously proceed, within its financial ability, to 

consummate such acquisitions. 

 

FINDING:  The Comprehensive Plan does not designate the site for a 
park or other public use. Therefore, this standard is not applicable. 

 
16.125.015 Standards for Blocks 

 

A.  General:  The length, width, and shape of blocks shall take into 
account the need for adequate building site size and street width 

and shall recognize the limitations of the topography. 

 

FINDING:  The proposed development will not change the existing block 
length, width or shape.  The proposed private driveway is not a street and no 

connection to the south is possible with the existing development. 

 
16.125.020 Easements 

A. Utility Lines:  Minimum 5 foot wide easements for sewers, water 
mains, electric lines, or other public utilities shall be dedicated 

along the front, side, and rear lot or parcel lines of each lot.  
Easements shall be centered on lot lines. 

B. Water Courses:  If a tract is traversed by a water course such as a 
drainage way, channel or stream, a storm water easement or 

drainage right-of-way shall be provided which substantially 

parallels the lines of the water course. 

C. Pedestrian and Bicycle Ways:  When desirable for public 

convenience and access, a pedestrian or bicycle way easement 
may be required to connect to a cul-de-sac or to pass through an 

unusually long or oddly spaced block, or to otherwise provide 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 55 of 138



appropriate circulation.  

 

FINDING:  A public utility easement is proposed along the site’s North 
Avenue frontage.  A blanket easement for access and utilities will be placed 
over Tract A extending 5’ feet on either side of the tract.  A 20’ wide utility 

easement at the rear of Lots 3 and 4 and a portion of Lot 2 is proposed for 
sanitary and storm drainage lines.  A 10’ wide storm easement is proposed 

between Lots 2 and 3 to provide storm drainage for the private driveway. 

 
16.125.025 Improvement      Requirements 

 
B.  Subdivisions:  The following improvements shall be required for 

all subdivisions in the City of North Plains. 

1. Frontage Improvements:  Street improvements to full City 
Standards shall be required for all public streets on which a 

proposed subdivision fronts. Such improvements shall be 
blended to match with existing improved surfaces across the 

centerline and for a reasonable distance beyond the frontage 
of the property.  Additional frontage improvements shall 

include:  sidewalks, curbing, storm sewer, sanitary sewer, 
waterlines, other public utilities as necessary, and such other 

improvements as the City shall determine to be reasonably 
necessary to serve the development or the immediate 

neighborhood. 
 

FINDING:  Frontage improvements are proposed to meet standards for the 
site’s NW North Avenue frontage.  Currently an asphalt concrete walkway is 

installed along the length of the property.  The condition of the walkway at this 

time is in fair to poor condition with edges wearing down and cracking 
common.  As a condition of approval the applicant is required to provide 

concrete walkways that match the sidewalk to the east of the property.  
Comments provided by Washington County and Clean Water Services are 

incorporated by reference as conditions of approval.   
 

2.  Proposed Streets:  All public streets within the subdivision 
shall be constructed as required by the provisions of the Street 

Standards section of this chapter. 
 

FINDING:  No new public streets are proposed. Improvements to North 

Avenue have been designed to meet applicable standards.   
 

3. Monuments: Upon completion of street improvements, 

monuments shall be reestablished and protected in monument 
boxes at every street intersection and all points of curvature 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 56 of 138



and points of tangency of street center lines.  Elevation bench 

marks shall be established at each street intersection 
monument with elevations to U.S. Geological Survey datum. 

 
FINDING:  Monuments will be set in accordance with this standard. 

 

4.  Sanitary Sewers:  Sanitary sewers shall be installed to serve 
the subdivision and to connect the subdivision to existing 

mains both on and off the property being subdivided. 

 
If the required sewer facilities will, without further sewer 

construction, directly serve property outside the subdivision, 

the Planning Commission may recommend to the City Council 
construction as an assessment project with such arrangement 

with the sub-divider as is desirable to assure financing his share 
of the construction. 

 
The City may require that the sub-divider construct sewage lines 
of a size in excess of that necessary to adequately serve the 

development in question, where such facilities are or will be 
necessary to serve the entire area within which the 

development is located when the area is ultimately developed.  

The City may also require that the construction take place as an 
assessment project with such arrangement with the sub-

divider as is desirable to assure his share of the construction. 

 
FINDING:  There is an existing sanitary line in North Avenue.  The existing 

house will retain its connection to this sanitary line and Lot 1 will also connect 
to the sanitary line in North Avenue.  A sanitary extension from the existing 

sanitary line south of the site in the private drive and utility easement will be 
extended on the site in a utility easement across the rear of Lots 2, 3 and 4. 

Lots 2, 3 and 4 will have sanitary laterals to this extension. 

 
5.  Water System:  Water lines with valves and fire hydrants serving 

the subdivision and connecting the subdivision to the city mains 

shall be installed.  The design shall take into account provisions 
for extension beyond the subdivision to adequately grid the City 

system and to serve the area within which the development is 

located when the area is ultimately developed. 
 

FINDING:  The existing house has a water meter from the existing 2” water 

line in NW North Avenue.  The Public Works Department has advised that a 2” 
main is inadequate to support a fire hydrant for fire suppression purposes.  The 

applicant has proposed extending the existing 8” water main east of the site in 
North Avenue to the western property line.  The existing dwelling will have a 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 57 of 138



new water meter to connect to the new water line, and the existing water meter 

to the 2” line will be abandoned. Four new water meters are proposed for Lots 
1-4.  The nearest hydrant is approximately 185 feet to the east at 317th Place.  

As a condition of approval a hydrant is proposed to be installed near the shared 
driveway to better serve residents of the subdivision in Lots 2, 3, 4 which are 

set back approximately 100 feet from the street.   

 

6.  Street Lights and    Street Trees: The installation of street lights and 
street trees is required at locations and of a type established 

by City standards. 

 

FINDING:  Street lights and street trees will be placed as required.  At a 

minimum, two street trees must be planted to the west of the shared driveway 
as a condition of approval.   

 
7.  Street Signs:  The installation of street name signs and traffic 

control signs is required at locations determined to be 
appropriate by the City and shall be of a type established by 

City standards. 

 
FINDING:  Street signage will be determined during construction plans.  No 

parking signs will be provided along the private driveway.  Because North 
Avenue is a relatively busy collector street, and the distance of the houses from 

the driveway, the applicant must install either mailboxes or other monument 

that would indicate the addresses of the three rear properties in letters that are 
4 inches or larger.  The purpose of the condition is to provide clear identification 

of the properties for emergency response personnel. 
 

SECTION 16.135:  SUBDIVISIONS 

 
16.135.010 Submittal Requirements  for Tentative  Subdivision Plan 

 

A. All Subdivision applications shall be submitted on forms provided 

by the City and accompanied by the appropriate filing fee. 

B. Each application shall include fifteen (15) copies of the tentative 

subdivision plan drawn on a sheet of 18 x 24 inches in size at a 
scale of 1 inch equals 100 feet. 

C. The following information shall be shown on the tentative 

subdivision plan: 

1. Proposed name of the subdivision.  This name shall not 

duplicate or resemble the name of any other subdivision in 
the county and shall be approved by the Planning Commission 

and the County Surveyor. 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 58 of 138



2. Date, north point and scale of drawing. 

3. Appropriate identification of the drawing as a tentative plan. 

4. Description of the subdivision sufficient to define its location 

and boundaries and legal description of the tract boundaries. 

5. Names and addresses of the owner, subdivider, and engineer, 

surveyor, or planner. 

6. The location, widths and names of both improved and 
unimproved streets within or adjacent to the tract, together 

with easements and other important features such as section 
lines, section corner, city boundary lines and monuments. 

7. Contour lines related to some established bench mark or other 

datum approved by the city engineer and having minimum 
intervals as follows: 

a.  For slopes of less than five per cent: two  feet, together 
with not less than four spot elevations per acre, evenly 

distributed, if necessary. 

b.  For slopes of five percent to 15 percent:  five feet.  

c.  For slopes of 15 percent to 20 percent:  ten feet. 

d.  For slopes of over 20 percent:  20 feet. 

8. The location of at least one temporary bench mark within the 
subdivision boundaries pursuant to ORS 96.060. 

9. The location and direction of water courses and the location of 
areas subject to flooding and/or within a designated 100-

year flood plain. 

10. Natural features such as rock outcroppings, marshes, 

wooded areas and isolated preservable trees having a caliper 

(diameter) of 6 inches or greater at 4 feet above grade. 

11. Existing uses of the property and location of existing 

structures designated historic and cultural resources on the 
site and structures to remain on the property after platting. 

12. A vicinity map showing existing subdivisions and 

unsubdivided land ownerships adjacent to the proposed 
subdivision and showing how proposed streets and utilities 

may be extended to connect to existing streets and utilities. 

13. Proposed deed restrictions, if any, in outline form. 

14. The location of existing sewage disposal facilities, water 

mains, culverts, storm drainage facilities and electric lines 
within and adjacent to the subdivision. 

15. The location, width, names, approximate grades and radii of 
curves of proposed streets as shown on any development plan. 

16. Dimensions and area of each proposed lot. 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 59 of 138



17. Proposed lot and block numbers. 

18. Proposed sites, if any, allocated for development, 

19. If the proposed subdivision includes only part of the tract 

owned or controlled by the subdivider, the City Planner or 
Planning Commission may require a sketch or tentative layout 

for streets and lots in the unsubdivided portion. 

20. Any of the following may be required by the City Planner or 
Planning Commission to supplement the tentative subdivision 

plan: 

a. Approximate center line profiles with extensions for a 

reasonable distance beyond the limits of the proposed 

subdivision showing the finished grade of streets and 
sidewalks and the nature and extent of street construction. 

b. A schematic plan for domestic water supply lines and 
related water service and sewage disposal facilities. 

c. Proposals for storm water drainage and flood control, 
including profiles of proposed drainage ways. 

d. If lot areas are to be graded or filled, a plan showing the 
nature of cuts and fills and information on the character of 

the soil. 

e. Proposals for other improvements such as electric utilities. 

 

FINDING:  The application includes the signed application form, fee, 

narrative, and plan set addressing the requirements of 16.135.010. 
 

16.135.011 Preliminary Plat Approval    Criteria 

 

The City may approve, approve with conditions or deny a preliminary 

plat based on the following approval criteria: 

 
A.  The proposed preliminary plat complies with the applicable 

Development Code chapters and all other applicable ordinances 
and regulations. At a minimum, the provisions of this section and 

the applicable sections of this chapter including Zoning Districts, 

Development Standards, and Streets and Facilities shall apply.  
Where a variance is necessary to receive preliminary plat 

approval, the application shall also comply with the Variance 
section of this chapter; 

 

FINDING:  The proposed subdivision complies with all the applicable 
Development Code chapters as required.  M inor  variances are requested to 

the lot area for Lots 1-4 and lot width for Lots 1, 3 and 4 and the standards in 
the variance chapter have been addressed in this narrative. One standard 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 60 of 138



variance to lot width for Lot 2 is also requested and addressed below in this 

narrative.  Staff is recommending an additional variance for Lot 1 to exceed the 
maximum square footage. 

 
B.  The proposed plat name is not already recorded for another 

subdivision, and satisfies the provisions of ORS Chapter 92; 

 
FINDING:  The applicant will pick a subdivision name that is not already in use 

in Washington County. 

 
C.  The proposed streets, roads, sidewalks, bicycle lanes, pathways, 

utilities, and surface water management facilities are laid out so 

as to conform or transition to the plats of subdivision and maps 
of major partitions already approved for adjoining property as to 

width, general direction and in all other respects.  All proposed 
public improvements and dedications are identified on the 

preliminary plat; 

 

FINDING:  The streets, sidewalks, and utilities have been designed to 
transition and/or conform with adjacent development. 

 

D. All proposed private common areas and improvements (e.g. 
homeowners association property) are identified on the 

preliminary plat;  
 

FINDING:  The proposed private driveway (Tract A) is identified on the 
preliminary plat.  As proposed Tract B is for preservation of trees/vegetation 

and is also shown on the preliminary plat by the applicant.  The preservation of 

the pine, chestnut and monkey trees is not prescribed by the City or other public 
agency.  Since a homeowners association has not been designated for the 

subdivision, and the owners intention is to sell the property with Lot 5, as a 
condition of approval Tract B should be incorporated to Lot 5. 

 

E.  Evidence that any required State and federal permits have been 
obtained, or shall be obtained before approval of the final plat; 

 
FINDING:  If required, any State and federal permits will be obtained prior 
to final plat.  At this time, no State or federal permits are required. 

 
F.  Evidence the improvements or conditions required by the City, 

road authority, Washington County, Clean Water Services, special 
districts, utilities, and/or other service providers, as applicable 

to the project, have been or can be met; 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 61 of 138



FINDING:  The City, Washington County and Clean Water services has 

provided comments on the application, and all conditions prescribed by the 
agencies are incorporated as conditions of approval.   

 
G. A Traffic Impact Study (TIS) has been provided, if applicable, in 

accordance with the provisions of Chapter 16.170; and 

 

FINDING:  A Traffic Impact Study has not been included at this time as it 

has not been requested by the City. 

 

H. If any part of the site is located within a Specific Area Plan District, 
Overlay District, or previously approved Master Planned 

Development, it shall conform to the applicable regulations 
and/or conditions. 

 
FINDING:  The site is not in a Specific Area Plan District, Overlay District, 
or a previously approved Master Planned Development. 

 
16.135.012 Lot  Access Provisions 

 

In addition to the provisions of this chapter, all lots and parcels shall 
conform to the specific requirements below, as applicable: 

A. In conformance with the Uniform Fire Code  (UFC), a  20-foot 

wide fire apparatus drive shall be provided to serve all portions 
of a building that are located more than 150 feet from a public 

right-of-way or approved access drive. 

B. When a common drive is to be provided to serve more than one 

lot, a reciprocal easement which will ensure access and 
maintenance rights shall be recorded with the approved 

subdivision or partition plat.  The minimum drive width shall be 

10 to 15 feet, except as required by the UFC, and improved with 
an all-weather surface approved by the City. 

C. Access reserve strips may be required to be granted to the City 
for the purpose of controlling access to adjoining undeveloped 

properties. 

D. Street and building placement and alignment shall be designed 

so that all future street connections can be made as surrounding 
properties develop. 

 
FINDING:  Lots 2, 3 and 4 will have shared access onto the proposed 
private driveway.  The private drive is proposed to be paved a minimum of 

15’ wide. This private drive will provide fire access to lots 2, 3 and 4.  Joint 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 62 of 138



maintenance of the driveway by the owners of Lots 2, 3, and 4 is a condition 

of approval.  Additionally, joint maintenance of the flag pole access to lots 3 
and 4 shall be required as a condition of approval.  

 
16.135.013 Flag Lot 

 

Flag lots may be created only when a through street or mid-block lanes 
cannot be extended to serve abutting uses or future development. A flag 
lot driveway (“flag pole”) may serve no more than two (2) dwellings 

units, including accessory dwellings and dwellings on individual lots, 
unless Uniform Fire Code (UFC) standards are met for more units.  When 

UFC standards are met, the maximum number of dwellings shall be four 

(4). A driveway serving more than one lot shall be a minimum of 15 
feet wide, except as required by the UFC, and have a reciprocal access 

and maintenance easement recorded for all lots.  No fence, structure 
or other obstacle shall be placed within the drive area. The Fire Marshal 

may require an emergency turn-around.  Fire sprinklers may also be 
required for buildings that cannot be fully served by fire hydrants due 

to distance from a hydrant of insufficient fire flow. 

 
FINDING:  Lots 2 ,  3 and 4 are proposed flag lots as access through to the 

east, south or west is not feasible due to existing subdivisions surrounding the 

site.  Each flag lot i s  requ i red to  own a  por t ion o f  the  private driveway 
(Tract A) with a shared width of 21 feet.  A reciprocal access easement is 

proposed over the flag pole portion of Lots 3 and 4. 

 

SECTION 16.145:  PUBLIC FACILITY AND SERVICE REQUIREMENTS 

 
16.145.005  Application  of  Public  Facility  Standards 

 

The provisions of Chapter 16.145 Public Facility and Service 
Requirements shall apply to development within the City of North Plains 

as listed in the following table. No development permit shall be approved 
unless the following required improvements are provided to City 

standards prior to occupancy or operation unless an exception is 
approved by the City Council per Chapter 16.145.020 or future provision 

of the improvement is assured per Chapter 16.145.030. 

 
Public Facilities Improvement Requirements Table 
 Fire 

Hydrants 

Street 

Improvements 

Water 

Line 

Sewer 

Line 

Storm 

Drainage & 

Trees 

Street 

Lights 

Partitions, Subdivisions 

and Manufactured 

Home Parks 

Y Y Y Y Y Y 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 63 of 138



FINDING:  The subdivision has been designed to include street 

improvements, water, sewer, storm drainage, trees and street lights as 
required by code. 

 
16.145.010  Public Facility Standards 

 

The following public facility standards shall be applicable to all 
development as specified in the Application Review section of this 

chapter. 

 
A.  Streets 

Street improvements required by Chapter 16.145.005 Public 
Facility & Service Standards shall be provided in compliance with 

Street Standards of this ordinance. 

 
FINDING: NW North Avenue is proposed to be improved with additional 
pavement, curb, sidewalk and planter strip.  The design is proposed to match 

the existing street improvement to the east. The proposed private driveway is 
20’ in width. 

 
B.  Storm Drainage 

 

No development permit shall be approved for any property until 
the City Engineer has reviewed and approved provisions for storm 

water drainage in accordance with the following criteria: 

1.  For storm drainage across or over the property on which the 

development is located, there are storm drainage facilities 

available which are capable of handling a one-hundred year 
flood without damage to any improvement on the property, or 

inundation of the lowest habitable floor of any residential 
structure thereon. 

2. For storm drainage along or from streets adjacent to the 
property on which the development is located, there are storm 

drainage facilities available in accordance with the City of North 
Plains adopted street standard. 

 

FINDING: The existing storm drainage ditch in North Avenue is proposed to 

be replaced with an underground storm drainage line extension from the 
existing line to the east to the western edge of the subject property, then to the 

existing ditch to the west. Storm drainage for Lots 2-4 will be connected to the 
existing storm line south of the site in an easement at the rear of these lots.  

Storm drainage for the private driveway will be provided by a catch basin and a 

storm line between Lots 2 and 3 to the south. 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 64 of 138



C.  Sewage Disposal 

 

No development permit shall be approved until the City Engineer 

and Clean Water has reviewed and approved provisions for 
connection to the public sewer system. 

 
FINDING:  There is an existing sanitary line in North Avenue.  The existing 
house will retain its connection to this sanitary line and Lot 1 will also connect 

to the sanitary line in North Avenue.  A sanitary extension from the existing 

sanitary line south of the site in the private drive and utility easement will be 
extended on the site in a utility easement across the rear of Lots 2-4. Lots 2-4 

will have sanitary laterals to this extension. 
 

D. Water Supply 

 

No development permit shall be approved for any property unless 

all affected water mains are either: 

1. Fully improved to a standard providing both adequate potable 

water and fire flows, as established by the applicable State 

Plumbing Code and approved by the City Engineer; or 

2. Improved to a standard providing adequate potable water 

flows pursuant to the City Water Master Plan and approved by 
the City Engineer and the Fire Chief for Washington County Fire 

District No. 2. 

 

FINDING:  The existing house has a water meter from the existing 2” water 
line in NW North Avenue. A new water main extension to the existing 8” line 

east of the site in North Avenue is proposed to the western property line.  The 
existing dwelling will have a new water meter to connect to the new water line 

and the existing water meter to the 2” line will be abandoned. Four new water 
meters are proposed for Lots 1-4. 

 
SECTION 16.150: STREET STANDARDS 

 
16.150.005 Scope 

 

The provisions of this Subsection shall be applicable to: 

A. The construction, dedication or creation of all new public or private 
streets in all subdivisions, partitions or other developments in the 

City of North Plains. 

B. The extension or widening of existing public or private street rights-

of-way, easements, or street improvements, including those which 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 65 of 138



may be proposed by an individual or the City, or which may be 

required by  the City in association with other development 
approvals. 

C. The construction or modification of any utilities or sidewalks in 
public rights-of-way or private street easements. 

 
FINDING:  NW North Avenue is proposed to be improved with additional 
pavement, curb, sidewalk and planter strip.  The design is proposed to match 

the existing street improvement to the east.  The proposed private driveway is 
20’ in width. 

 
16.150.010  General Provisions 

 

The following general provisions shall apply to the dedication, 
construction, improvement or other development of all public streets in 

the City of North Plains: 
 

A.  The location, width, and grade of streets shall be considered in 
their relation to existing and planned streets, to topographical 

conditions, to public convenience and safety, and to the proposed 
use of the land to be served by the streets. 

 
FINDING:  NW North Avenue is proposed to be improved with additional 

pavement, curb, sidewalk and planter strip.  The design is proposed to match 
the existing street improvement to the east. The proposed private driveway is 

20’ in width. 
 

B.  Development proposals shall provide for the continuation of 

existing principal streets where necessary to promote 
appropriate traffic circulation in the vicinity of the development. 

 

FINDING:  NW North Avenue is proposed to be improved with additional 
pavement, curb, sidewalk and planter strip.  The design is proposed to match 

the existing street improvement to the east.  The proposed private driveway is 
20’ in width. 

C.  Reserve strips: … 

D. Alignment:…   

E.  Future extension of streets:  … 

F.  Intersection angles: … 

 

FINDING:  16.150.010 C-F are not applicable to this application.   

 
G. Existing streets:  Whenever existing public streets adjacent to or 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 66 of 138



within a tract are of inadequate width, additional right-of-way 

shall be provided at the time of subdivision or development. 
 

FINDING:  NW North Avenue currently has 30’ of right-of-way to centerline. 

Therefore, the subdivision is proposing a 7’ wide dedication along North Avenue 
to get the right-of-way to 37’ from centerline. 

H. Cul-de-sacs:…   

I.  Street names: …  

J.  Grades and curves:  … 

K.  Marginal access streets:  … 

L.  Alleys: … 

 

FINDING:  No new streets are proposed.  Therefore, this standards for 
16.150.010 H-L are not applicable. 

 
M. Sidewalks shall be a minimum of five feet in width.  Curbs and 

sidewalks shall be required along both sides of all public streets.  All 
new development upon lots, tracts or parcels of land adjacent to a 

public street will be required to construct curbs and sidewalks. 
 

FINDING:  Sidewalk along the site’s NW North Avenue is proposed and meets 

the standards above. 

 

N. Street trees, where provided, shall not be of a species which has a 
shallow spreading root system which is likely to disturb sidewalk 

or street improvements. 

 

FINDING:  Street trees will be required along the frontage of North Avenue 
and will comply with 16.150.010.N. 

 
O. Access Spacing Standards shall, to the greatest extent possible, 

comply with Washington County’s standards and the most 

recently adopted public works/street standards of the City of 
North Plains.  Washington County’s access spacing standards by 

street functional classification are as follows: 

Major Arterial: 1,000 feet  

Minor Arterial: 600 feet  

Major Collector: 150 feet  

Minor Collector: 50 feet  

Local Street: 10 feet 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 67 of 138



FINDING:  No new streets are proposed. Therefore, 16.150.010.O is not 

applicable. 

 
16.150.115 General Right-of-Way and Improvement Widths 

 

Construction specifications for all street and right-of-way 
improvement widths shall comply with the criteria of the most recently 
adopted public works/street standards of the City of North Plains, the 

North Plains Transportation System Plan, and/or Washington County 
standards. These standards shall be the minimum requirements for all 

streets, except where modifications are permitted under this chapter or 
the Street Standard adopted by the City Council of North Plains, 

whichever is less restrictive. Refer to Figures 5-2A-5-2P in the 

Transportation System Plan for detailed diagrams depicting street right-
of-way, improved, and roadway width requirements. 

 

FINDING:  NW North Avenue is proposed to be improved with additional 
pavement, curb, sidewalk and planter strip.  The design is proposed to match 
the existing street improvement to the east.  

 
SECTION 16.155: OFF-STREET PARKING AND LOADING 

 
16.155.015 Automotive Parking Requirements 

 

A.  Residential 
1.  Detached single family Two (2) spaces per dwelling unit 

 

FINDING:  Parking for the existing house on Lot 5 will continue to be provided 
in the existing garage and driveway.  At least 2 off-street parking spaces will 

be provided for the proposed new dwellings on Lots 1-4 with one in the 
driveway and one in the garage.   

 
SECTION 16.160:  CLEAR VISION AREAS 

 
16.160.000 Requirements 

 

Except in the C-1 zone, a clear vision area shall be maintained on the 

corners of all property adjacent to the intersection of two streets, a 
street and a railroad, or a driveway providing vehicular access to a 

public street, including alleys. 

A.  Lots or parcels on street corners (public and/or private) shall 

maintain a sight triangle with no sight obstruction between three 
(3) feet and ten (10) feet in height as measured from street grade.  

Sight obstructions include, but are not limited to, fences, 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 68 of 138



vegetation, berms, signs and structures. The sight triangle shall 

be measured from the street corner (apex), to a distance of twenty 
(20) feet along each street side (see Figure 1). For the purpose of 

this Section, a street corner is defined as that point where the 
extended edges of the road surface of two intersecting streets 

meet.  The City may require additional vision clearance based on a 
hazard identified by the City. However, tree trunks and sign poles 

not exceeding 12 inches in diameter may be located within the 
vision clearance area, provided the diameter does not exceed 24 

inches. 

B.  A private access shall be treated as a public street for the purpose 

of this section. The vision clearance area shall be determined in 
the manner set forth form in Chapter 16.160.000.010(A). The edge 

of the paved surface area of the private access, be it roadway, curb 
or sidewalk, shall be treated as the right-of-way line in 

determining the vision clearance area. 

 
FINDING:  Site vision triangles are provided at the intersection of the private 
driveway and NW North Avenue. 

 
SECTION 16.170: APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS AND REVIEW 

PROCEDURES 

 

16.170.000 General Provisions 

 

The following lists set forth the type of review procedure for 

administrative and land use applications: 

 
B.  Type II Land Use Permit by Planner 

 

8.  Minor Variance Permit up to 10% of the standard 

 
C.  Type III Quasi Judicial Permits by Planning Commission 

14.   Subdivision Permit 

16.   Variance Permit 

 
FINDING:  The applicant is proposing a 5-lot subdivision (Type III review).  
The applicant is also requesting two minor variances to lot area for Lots 1-4 

and lot width for Lots 1, 3 and 4 (Type II review).  The applicant is requesting 
a standard variance to lot width for Lot 2 (Type III review).  The entire 

application is being presented to the Planning Commission as a Type III review. 

 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 69 of 138



16.170.001 Pre-application Conference 

 

A pre-application conference is recommended for a Type II, III and IV 

permit.  The applicant shall file the appropriate application, pay the 
review fee and meet with the City Planner, other city staff and affected 

agencies. At the conference the City Planner shall identify the relevant 

comprehensive plan policies, map designations, zone and development 
standards and procedural requirements applicable to the application. 

The planner and affected agencies shall provide technical data and 
identify opportunities or constraints concerning the application. 

 
Failure of the City to provide any information required by this section 
does not constitute a waiver of any of the standards, criteria or 

requirements for the application.  Due to possible changes in federal, 
state, regional and local law, the applicant is responsible for assuring 

the application complies with all applicable laws on the day the 

application is deemed complete. 

 
FINDING:  A formal pre-application meeting was not held.  The applicant did 

contact the City to have a pre-app and was directed to move forward with the 
application after reviewing the preliminary proposed plan via email. 

 

16.170.002 Neighborhood  Meeting 

 

Applicants or their representatives are encouraged to meet with 

adjacent property owners and neighborhood representatives prior to 

submitting an application to the City in order to solicit input and 
exchange information about the proposed development.  The applicant 

for a Type III application is encouraged to hold a neighborhood 
meeting with a recognized neighborhood or community organization. 

If no organization exists, then the applicant is encouraged to hold a 
meeting with adjacent property owners within a radius of 250 feet who 

will receive public notice. 

 
FINDING:  A neighborhood meeting was held for this proposed subdivision on 

October 2, 2013. 

 
16.170.003 Traffic  Impact  Study 

 

The purpose of this section of the code is to assist in determining which 

road authorities participate in a land use decision, and to implement 
Section 660-012-0045 (2) of the State Transportation Planning Rule that 

requires the City to apply conditions to development proposals in order 
to minimize impacts and protect transportation facilities.  This Chapter 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 70 of 138



establishes the standards for when a proposal must be reviewed for 

potential traffic impacts; when a Traffic Impact Study must be 
submitted with a development application in order to determine 

whether conditions are needed to minimize impacts to and protect 
transportation facilities; what must be in a Traffic Impact Study; and 

who is qualified to prepare the Study. 

A.  When a Traffic Impact Study is Required:  The City or other road 

authority with jurisdiction may require a Traffic Impact Study 
(TIS) as part of an application for development, a change in use, 

or a change in access.  A TIS shall be required when a land use 
application involves one or more of the following actions: 

1. A change in zoning or a plan amendment designation; 

2. Any  proposed  development  of  land  use  action   that  a  

road  authority states may have operational or safety  
concerns along its facility; 

3. An increase in site traffic volume generation by 300 Average 

Daily Trips (ADT) or more; or 

4. An increase in site traffic volume of a particular movement to 

and from the State Highway by 20 percent or more; or 

5. An increase in use of adjacent streets by vehicles exceeding 

the 20,000 pound gross vehicle weights by 10 vehicles or 
more per day; or 

6. The location of the access driveway does not meet minimum 
sight distance requirements, or is located where vehicles 

entering or leaving the property are restricted, or such 

vehicles queue or hesitate on the State Highway, creating a 
safety hazard; or 

7. A change in internal traffic patterns that may cause safety 
problems, such as back up onto a street or greater potential 

for traffic accidents. 

 

FINDING:  The increase in site traffic (4 new dwellings) will have a volume 
generation of less than 300 Average Daily Trips.  Average Daily Trips for the 

6 new dwellings will be 39 trips. 
 

SECTION 16.185:  VARIANCES 

 
16.185.010 Type III Review Criteria 

 

A variance may be authorized upon adequate demonstration by the 
applicant that the proposed variance satisfies the following criteria: 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 71 of 138



 

A.  That special conditions and circumstances exist which are 
peculiar to the land, building or structure involved; 

 
FINDING:  The applicant is requesting a variance to the minimum lot width for 

Lot 2.  The proposed lot width is 46.52’, which is a reduction of 22.5% of the 
60’ minimum of the R-7.5 zone. The shape of the existing lot and the existing 

house and many mature trees to remain impacts the way the lot can be divided 
as a subdivision.  The existing lot line along the southern property line is only 

160.08 feet in width.  Therefore, there is not enough distance to have three 60’ 
wide lots along this property line. Density for the site allows for 5 lots. 

 
B. That granting the proposed variance would be in the public 

interest and would be in harmony with the purpose of the 
underlying zoning district and the intent and purpose of this 

Ordinance; 

 
FINDING:  The construction of 5 homes on this site is consistent with the 
R7.5 zoning. 

 
C.  That the variance would result in minimal detriment to the 

immediate vicinity; 

 
FINDING:  The proposed variance to the minimum lot width for Lot 2 will not 
be detrimental to the immediate area.  The variance allows for the existing 

dwelling to remain and some large trees to remain on-site and for the site to 
have a density of 5 units. 

 

D. That the variance requested is the minimum variance which would 
make possible the reasonable use of the applicant's land, building 

or structure; and  

 
FINDING:  The proposed variances are the minimum variance that allows for 

the site to be developed with a density of 5 units, which is the reasonable 
and allowed use of the land. 

 
E. That the special conditions and circumstances on which the 

application is based do not result from the negligent or knowing 
violation of this Ordinance by the applicant. 

 
FINDING:  There is no violation of this Ordinance by the applicant. 
 

16.185.015  Type II  Review Criteria 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 72 of 138



Minor variances, not to exceed 10%, from lot size, depth, width, area, 

coverage, landscaping and setback standards may be authorized 
administratively upon adequate demonstration by the applicant that 

the proposed variance satisfies the following criteria; administrative 
variances shall be processed in accordance with Application Review 

section of this chapter: 
 

A. That special conditions and circumstances, such as lot shape and 

configuration, exist which are peculiar to the land, building or 
structure involved; 

 

FINDING:  The applicant is requesting two minor variances: 
 

First, lot area for Lots 1-4 is proposed to be 6,750 sq. ft. or 90% of the required 
minimum lot area for the R-7.5 zone.  The shape and location of the existing 

the existing house greatly impacts the way the lot can be divided as a 
subdivision.  The most practical way to access the southern portion of the site 

is to provide access in the middle of the lot.  The alternative would be to 
approach from the west boundary which would create longer flagpole accesses. 

 
Second, lot width for Lots 1, 3 & 4 are proposed to be reduced by 2.4% to 

9.2%.  The existing lot line along the southern property line is only 160.08 
feet in width.  Therefore, there is not enough distance to have three 60’ wide 

lots (180 feet) along this property line. 

 

B.  That the variance would result in minimal detriment to the 
immediate vicinity. 

 
FINDING:  The proposed adjustments to the minimum lot area for Lots 1-4 

and minimum lot width for Lots 1, 3 & 4 will not be detrimental to the immediate 
area.  The adjustments allow for the existing dwelling to remain and large trees 

to remain on-site. 
 

C.  An application for an Administrative Variance is limited to one 

lot per application. 

 
FINDING:  Because the applicant is requesting multiple variances, all variances 

are being presented to the Planning commission as part of Type III review.  
 

D. No more than three Administrative Variances may be approved 

for one lot or parcel in 12 months. 
 

FINDING:  All variance requests are being considered as part of the Type III 
review.   

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 73 of 138



 

16.185.020 Conditions of Approval 
 

In approving an application for a type III variance, the Planning commission may 
impose such conditions as it deems appropriate to ensure the intent of this 

Section is carried out.  Such conditions shall be reasonably related to the 
variance criteria set forth in this chapter.   

 
Finding:  Staff is recommending an additional variance be required for Lot 5 

causing the area of Tract B to be incorporated in the lot.  The creation of Tract 
B as a substandard lot is inconsistent with the underlying zone. 

 
V.       SUMMARY  AND CONCLUSIONS 

 

Based upon the findings of this report and the submitted supplemental 
graphics material, the applicant has demonstrated compliance with the 

requirements of the relevant sections of the North Plains Zoning and 
Development Ordinance for the requested 5-lot subdivision in the R-7.5 

District. Therefore, the request should be approved. 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 74 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 75 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 76 of 138



CITY OF NORTH PLAINS 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING & REQUEST FOR COMMENTS  

 

The purpose of this notice is to invite comments on: 

An application requesting the approval of a preliminary plat for a 5-lot subdivision of single-
family detached dwellings on a 0.96 acre lot designated R-7.5 on the City of North Plains 

Zoning Map.  Tax lot #1N301BD400 commonly known as 31790 NW North Avenue.   

The City will accept all written comments received prior to the hearing scheduled for  

December 11, 2013, at 7 p.m. 

North Plains Senior Center, 31450 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, Oregon 97133 

 

LOT SIZE: 0.96 acres 

ZONING: R-7.5 

OWNER AND APPLICANT: Emerio Design (Neil Fernando) 

DATE OF THIS NOTICE: November 21, 2013  

WHAT IS THE DECISION PROCESS?  The North Plains Planning Commission will make a decision on the application 
for a preliminary plat for a 5-Lot single family residential subdivision after the public hearing. The Planning 
Commission’s decision may be appealed to the City Council. 

HOW CAN I REVIEW THE DOCUMENTS AND STAFF REPORT?  You can review application and staff report materials at City 
Hall, online after December 4, 2013 at www.northplains.org  or request a copy by emailing 
martha@northplains.org  

INFORMATION TO INCLUDE IN COMMENTS: Issues which may provide the basis for an appeal to the Land Use Board of 
Appeals shall be raised in writing prior to the expiration of the comment period. Issues shall be raised with 
sufficient specificity to enable the decision maker to respond to the issue. Failure of an issue to be raised in a 
hearing, in person, or by letter, or failure to provide statements or evidence sufficient to afford the decision 
maker an opportunity to respond to the issue, precludes appeal. ______________________________________ 

NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 
Tuesday, February 18, 2014 

Packet Pagination: Page 77 of 138

http://www.northplains.org/
mailto:martha@northplains.org


PROPERTY: (CONT.)  31790 NW NORTH AVENUE 

Name: 
Blake Boyles

    

Organization or Business (If Any): 
City of North Plains

  

Address: 
31360 NW Commercial St  North Plains, Oregon 97133

  

Phone # (Optional):   

Date: 
11/22/13

  

 

COMMENTS:   

 Plans show the installation of an 8” Ductile Iron waterline connecting to the line stubbed out on the eastern end 

of property and carrying it to the west end on NW North Ave. Coordination with the City is stressed due to timelines 

with an adjacent project. Contact Blake Boyles Public Works Director 503-389-1397 ASAP. 

Consideration should be made to contact Post Office about the installation and placement of a mail gang-box.  

               

               

               

               

               

               

               

               

             

               
   

Please return by one of the following ways: 
 

MAIL: 31360 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, OR 97133 

IN PERSON: City Hall, 31360 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, OR 

E-MAIL: martha@northplains.org 

Please contact City Manager Martha DeBry at (503) 647-5555 with any questionsThank you!  

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 78 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 79 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 80 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 81 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 82 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 83 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 84 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 85 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 86 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 87 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 88 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 89 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 90 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 91 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 92 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 93 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 94 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 95 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 96 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 97 of 138



CITY OF NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION 
REGULAR SESSION MINUTES 
DECEMBER 11, 2013, 7:00 P.M. 
NORTH PLAINS SENIOR CENTER 
31450 NW COMMERCIAL STREET 
 
 
1. Chairman King called the meeting to order at 7:01 pm. 
 
2. The pledge of allegiance was led by Chairman King. 
 
3. ROLL CALL 
 Commission:  Stewart King, Heather LaBonte, Doug Nunnenkamp and Daryl Olson       

present. Commissioners Ethan Hagar and Jeff Low, and Ex-OfficioTeri Lenahan 
excused absence. Commissioner Aeron Braukman unexcused absence.  

 Staff:  City Manager Martha DeBry and Account Clerk II Pam Smith present. 
 
4. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 None. 
             
5. CONSENT AGENDA  
 November 13, 2013, Regular Session Minute Approval, Olson moved to approve the 

November 13, 2013, Regular Session minutes as written, Nunnenkamp seconded the 
motion and they were approved unanimously. 

 
6. PUBLIC HEARING 

A.  Approval of Preliminary Subdivision Plat for a 5-lot Subdivision, File #13-44. King 
requested the reading of the quasi-judicial hearing process statement. Following the 
reading of the rules, King opened the Public Hearing at 7:05 p.m., and called for 
abstentions, ex parte contacts or any conflicts of interest by any Planning 
Commissioner. King noted he owns the brokerage firm that represented the applicant 
and stepped down. LaBonte took over the meeting at that point. The audience had no 
questions for, nor objections to, any Commissioners. LaBonte asked for the Staff 
Report to be read.   
 
DeBry noted the applicant had proposed a 5-Lot Subdivision. In order to retain the 
1925 home presently on the property (Lot 5), four new detached single-family 
dwellings were being proposed as well as a Tract A and Tract B. The applicant 
requested two minor variances regarding the area on lots 1-4, a minor variance for the 
width on lots 1, 3 and 4, and a standard variance for the width of lot 2. The subdivision  
would have three flag lots with Tract A being a shared private driveway for access to 
lots 2-4 and lots 3 and 4 would share a flagpole drive. Tract B would be a 
non-conforming lot for the preservation of the existing trees and would most likely 
become owned by the owners of Lot 5 (Michael and Marie Basile). While not a 
requirement this would be established to work around the maximum lot size of 9,000 
square feet in zone R-7.5. Staff is recommending a variance to the lot maximum being 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 98 of 138



City of North Plains Planning Commission 
December 11, 2013, Regular Session Minutes   
Page 2 of 6 
        
 

granted for Lot 5 and that Tract B be incorporated into the Lot. Staff is recommending 
the 2 minor area variances, the minor width variance and the standard width variance. 
The City is also requesting an extension of the 8” water main and the addition of a fire 
hydrant in the subdivision. 
 
LaBonte asked if there were any questions or comments. Olson noted four lots were of 
substandard size and one was oversized.  He asked if the square footage of all the 
lots was within the 10% or not. Nunnenkamp was also concerned with the substandard 
sized lots and the width of Lot 2 not meeting the standard. 
 
Ryan O’Brien, 4380 SW Macadam Avenue, Suite 100, Portland, OR  97239, 
representing applicant Vince Biggi, noted the average lot size was 7500 for the five 
properties but the problem was the location of the current house and garage. Density 
for the site allows for five lots. O’Brien noted the plan meets the criteria and that 
variances are for unusual circumstances such as this one. He also noted infill 
properties sometimes have variances. 
 
Nunnenkamp noted when developing an entire subdivision, it should be done correctly 
and meet the City’s standards. The variance for the width of Lot 2 would not be a small 
variance and would not be in harmony with the rest of the neighborhood.  Olson 
asked about the feasibility of the subdivision having four homes instead of five. (With 
three new instead of four new.) DeBry noted there were several small lots of similar 
size to the East of this property. 
 
Mr. Biggi said that he didn’t own the current house and trying to work around it was 
presenting a problem. He said that it was not feasible to develop a subdivision for only 
three new lots because of the costs involved. He also noted that he had built twice in 
that area of North Plains and had built 32’ wide houses which were well built, beautiful 
and expensive homes, so a nice house could definitely be built on the narrow Lot 2. He 
also noted by removing one of the lots, there would still be a narrow lot, that it can’t be 
avoided. 
       
LaBonte asked about the requirements of the Fire Department. DeBry noted the Fire 
Department was fine with the property and would probably have no need to go down 
the driveway since it is a short enough distance to the homes from North Avenue, but 
a new fire hydrant would be installed near the shared driveway. LaBonte asked if the 
homeowner on Lot 5 shouldn’t have been included in this meeting. DeBry said the 
home owners had signed the application and were aware of the meeting.  
 
Letters had been received from two neighbors, Stacy Mills, 31790 NW North Avenue, 
and Richard Vandehey, 31880 NW North Avenue, concerned with the size of the lots.  
Each neighbor questioned why the builder proposed such a narrow lot (Lot 2) and also 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 99 of 138



City of North Plains Planning Commission 
December 11, 2013, Regular Session Minutes   
Page 3 of 6 
        
 

why he wouldn’t just do three new builds, instead of four. They felt four houses built in 
the small area available was not a good idea and asked that Planning Commission 
take that into account.  
 
City resident Robert Vincent, 11255 NW 317th Place, North Plains, OR  97133, said 
he had talked to Neil Fernando of Emerio Design at the information meeting and he 
felt they had taken the resident’s ideas into consideration. He felt the variances were 
fine and had no problem nor did his neighbor and he noted this neighbor had a small 
lot with a nice home. Mr. Biggi related how a narrow house can be a very nicely built 
home and that he had built and sold a 32’ wide house for $460,000. 
 
LaBonte asked for discussion. Olson felt the variances were requested in order to 
squeeze an extra lot into the subdivision and that adding the four lots didn’t meet the 
standards. He also felt it was not in harmony with the neighborhood. Mr. Biggi felt the 
Planning Commission hadn’t consider future builds on this property from the 
beginning. 
 
LaBonte asked about the 7’ road dedication and DeBry said it was a requirement of 
Washington County. LaBonte asked if there was any more discussion. Hearing none 
and with no individuals present wishing to testify, she closed the Public Hearing at 7:38 
and entertained a motion.   
 
Olson moved to deny approval because the application didn’t meet the minimum width 
requirements on all of the lots nor the square footage requirements. Nunnenkamp 
seconded the denial for the same reasons, not meeting the required criteria. LaBonte 
voted to approve the application. The Approval was denied by a vote of two to one. 
 
King retook his seat as Chairman at 7:40. 
 

7. ELECTION OF OFFICERS 
 A.   Chairperson        Labonte nominated King and he was unanimously approved. 

B.   Vice-Chairperson   Nunnenkamp nominated LaBonte and she was unanimously 
approved. 

 
8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

DeBry led the discussion regarding revisions on the North Plains Comprehensive Plan 
Chapters 15.01 and part of 15.02. She let the Planning Commission know that once 
the revisions were made, they would have a chance to look those revisions over and 
further refine them if necessary before they would be submitted to Land Conservation 
and Development Commission (LCDC). Notations were made on the paperwork 
provided for the Agenda Packet but changes were discussed in particular, but not 
limited to, the following sections.  

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 100 of 138



City of North Plains Planning Commission 
December 11, 2013, Regular Session Minutes   
Page 4 of 6 
        
 

 
15.01.010  Population information was updated;    
 
15.01.050  The Commission was okay with “softening” this language a bit, making this 
a goal, but not a requirement. DeBry would bring back the revised wording for review. 
She noted the range and diversity issue needed to be more clear including what the 
size of a neighborhood was and explaining a range of housing options, including 
rentals. Land area required per unit makes apartments hard to do. King acknowledged 
the change under #11 dropping the word “new” in regards to the Golf Course;   
 
15.02.010  DeBry wanted to bring attention to the fact that the Planning Commission 
is designated as a Citizen Involvement Committee responsible for outreach with 
regards to the Comprehensive Plan.  Planning Commission had not reported to City 
Council since 2007. The code says it should be done every 2 years and Planning 
Commission is now due to report to City Council; 
 
15.02.020  DeBry made some revisions to the zones and noted how the goal for 
density of 40/40/20 mix is not attainable and asked if the Commission would like that 
left in. The density average of 8.4 dwellings per acre is attainable and, as a 
requirement, does need left in. The Commission felt it was good to keep the goal of 
40/40/20, but not require it. DeBry also struck out the low density section as the City 
does not have that anymore and she relabeled the other residential zones. In the 
Neighborhood Community she suggested removing the 40/40/20 mix. Nunnenkamp 
asked when the City would be looking at the percentages again. DeBry said we could 
readjust if we were getting too dense. Until we expand, which would probably happen 
within the next two years, she felt there would be no need to address this. DeBry 
suggested putting in a range of minimum and maximum on the 8.4% density. 
(Example not less than 4% and not more than 10%) Being the first pass, she would 
make corrections to be approved when reviewed again. 
 
The suggestion was made by DeBry to add a “Downtown Commercial” zone with 
different setbacks and conditions than the regular Commercial zone. King noted that 
C-1 zone is downtown and C-2 is highway which are already different. DeBry didn’t 
feel the setbacks in C-1 fit our downtown area. She also felt it would be nice to have a 
“Downtown Commercial Transition” Zone because downtown is so small. That would 
create the flexibility for businesses to be in Single Family Homes in that close 
residential area on the east end of town on Commercial Street, noting there are not 
enough small properties for new businesses. King asked if it would be considered an 
overlay. DeBry agreed that might be a way to make it work. King noted that the 
warehouses on the west end of town were not really commercial uses as intended. 
DeBry also did a flip in the Commercial uses between Institutional and Public Facility 
uses. King noted the Community Service overlay district had never been considered 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 101 of 138



City of North Plains Planning Commission 
December 11, 2013, Regular Session Minutes   
Page 5 of 6 
        
 

since he was on the Planning Commission and DeBry felt that could be removed.  
King also felt schools and churches should be considered institutional or at least an 
overlay. The school is currently considered zoned 7.5 residential but is not really 
residential property that can be developed.  
 
15.02.035  DeBry updated some of the language and felt there needed to be more 
explicit language about not building in the Flood Plain. King noted “unnamed tributary 
now had the name “Ghost Creek” and asked that be changed;  
 
15.02.065  This section needed some updating in regards to parks, including the 
removal of the mention of a 20 acre park. DeBry noted we exceeded the minimum two 
acres of neighborhood parks per 1,000 population; 
 
15.02.080  DeBry deleted most of this section and updated the mix and density 
information;   
 
15.02.105  DeBry felt this section was too long and too detailed so she edited it; 
 
15.02.144  This section was removed; 
 
15.02.147  DeBry noted this section had been based on an old study and suggested 
the study be revisited;  
 
15.02.160  The population projection information in this section would be updated.  
Nunnenkamp asked how the city could better promote commercial/ industrial growth.  
DeBry felt there was too little commercial space and no large buildings available. King 
also noted we should promote commercial/industrial growth noting the building east of 
town on the other side of the Oregon State Police (OSP) building with all of the 
infrastructure there, but no loading docks; and   
 
15.02.163  A new projection would be received from Portland State soon to update 
this information. 
 
DeBry felt enough had been covered for the evening and suggested the Commission 
would go over the rest of the information at the next meeting.  She reminded the 
Planning Commission that once all changes are discussed and made, the Commission 
would have a chance to review the changes before a draft would be submitted to the 
Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD). 

 
9. STAFF REPORT 
 DeBry let the Commission know that 44 Building Permits were issued this year, 

approximately ½ DR Horton and half infill.  She also let them know that she had done 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 102 of 138



City of North Plains Planning Commission 
December 11, 2013, Regular Session Minutes   
Page 6 of 6 
        
 

an administrative variance for Sunset Terrace I. She reminded the Commission there 
would be two vacancies to fill with both Ethan Hagar and Aeron Braukman’s terms 
expiring at the end of the month.   

 
 LaBonte asked about Home Occupation use in the  Residential Zones and felt the 

definition should be more clearly defined with it being considered a secondary use in 
the residential zone. 

 
 Nunnenkamp commented on the signs at Commercial and West Union and noted one 

of the signs was quite unattractive.  DeBry noted City Council had approved a new 
policy for rotating signs at that intersection and agreed the signs should be of 
professional quality. King stated there were a lot of frame signs and asked about the 
new sign pole scheduled to go in at that intersection.  DeBry said City Council was 
looking at the design ideas and had not finished making that decision yet. 

   
10. ADJOURNMENT 

King noted the next scheduled meeting to be January 8, 2014 and adjourned the 
meeting at 8:53 pm. 

 
 
Submitted by: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Pamela L. Smith, Account Clerk II 
 
Minutes Approved:   ____________ 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 103 of 138



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
   NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN, that on December 11, 2013, at 7:00 p.m. at the North Plains Senior Center, 31450 
NW Commercial Street, North Plains, Oregon, the Planning Commission of the City of North Plains will conduct a 
Public Hearing on the application of Emerio Design, Neil Fernando for a property located at 31790 NW North 
Avenue. 
  This application is a request to approve a preliminary plat for a 5-lot subdivision of single-family detached dwellings 
on a 0.96 acre lot designated R-7.5 on the City of North Plains Zoning Map.  Tax lot #1N301BD400.  Applicable 
sections of the zoning and development code include, but may not be limited to, the following: 16.20, 16.125, 16.135, 
16.145, 16.150, 16.155, 16.160, 16.170, and 16.185. 
  Questions and written comments regarding the application can be directed to City Manager Martha DeBry 
martha@northplains.org (503) 647-5555 or City Hall, 31360 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, OR 97133.  
Written comments will be received until 4:30 p.m. December 11, 2013 at City Hall, and at the public meeting. 
  All evidence relied upon by the City to make this decision is in the public record and available for public review at 
North Plains City Hall, North Plains, Oregon during regular business hours.  A copy of the application is available for 
review at City Hall or online at northplains.org.  A copy of the City’s staff report and recommendation to the hearings 
body shall be available for review at no cost at least seven days before the hearing, and available online at 
www.northplains.org.  The failure to address an issue with enough detail during the comment period or at the public 
meeting may preclude an appeal to the Land Use Board of Appeals or Appeals or Circuit Court on that issue.  Only 
comments on the applicable criteria are considered relevant evidence.  The hearing will be opened for presentation 
by the city and the applicant and then opened to the public.  The hearing can be closed or continued at the discretion 
of the Planning Commission.  If the hearing is closed, the Planning Commission has the right to extend the time for 
additional information to be submitted by the public or the applicant.  After the comment period closes, the City shall 
issue a decision. The decision shall be mailed to the applicant and to anyone else who submitted written comments 
or who is otherwise legally entitled to notice. 

City of North Plains Planning Commission public hearing will be held December 11, 2013 

at 7:00 p.m. at the North Plains Senior Center, 31450 NW Commercial St, North Plains, 

Oregon. 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 104 of 138

mailto:martha@northplains.org
http://www.northplains.org/


______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 105 of 138



 

Agenda Item No: 8A     

 
CITY OF NORTH PLAINS 
31360 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, Oregon 97133 

 

Date:  February 7, 2014 

To:  Mayor and City Council 

From:  City Recorder Margaret Reh 

Subject: Matching Funds for North Plains Elementary School 

Request:  Mayor Hatcher requested this item to be added to the agenda after Councilor 
Broome’s inquiry at the January 21, 2014 Council meeting if the Council would agree to 
match funds raised at an upcoming dance.  The North Plains Elementary School would 
be the beneficiary of this dance. 
 
Background:  Councilor Broome has been planning and organizing a country dance to 
take place on Saturday, March 22, 2014. This dance is a fundraiser to purchase art 
supplies for the North Plains Elementary School. Admission to the dance is $5.00 per 
individual. 
 
Music is being provided by DT and Country. 
 
Fiscal Impact: Proceeds from ticket sales at the door and funds collected from raffle 
sales throughout the evening vary with each dance. The maximum amount raised at a 
past dance was $700. 
 
Environmental Issues:  None 
 
Recommendation: Council to agree to match the funds raised at the country dance on 
Saturday, March 22, 2014 to benefit the North Plains Elementary School. 
 
 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 106 of 138



 

Agenda Item No: 8B    

 
CITY OF NORTH PLAINS 
31360 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, Oregon 97133 

 

Date:  January 24, 2014 

To:  Mayor and City Council 

From:  City Manager Martha DeBry 

Subject: Resolution No. 1816 authorizing Chamber of Commerce requests for the 
2014 Farmers Market 

 
Request:  Council adopt Resolution No. 1816 authorizing Chamber of Commerce 
requests for the 2014 Farmers Market 
 
Background:  The North Plains Farmers Market has operated since July 2011, under the 
auspices of the North Plains Senior Center and North Plains Farmers Market Board.  
Recently the Farmers market Board severed its ties with the Senior Center, and has 
partnered with the North Plains Chamber of Commerce.   

The two groups would like to revamp the structure of the Farmers Market.  Specifically, 
they are planning to: 

 Move the market on to Commercial Street 
 Change the hours from 8 am -1 pm on Saturdays to 4 p.m. to 9 p.m. on Thursday 

evenings 
 Work more closely with downtown businesses to provide music entertainment, 

food options and possibly alcohol service 

Both groups will benefit from this change as more volunteers will be available to set up 
and break down the market and the participation of businesses should raise interest in 
the event, which should in turn provide additional customers to the businesses. 

On behalf of the Farmers Market, the Chamber of Commerce has made the following 
requests: 
 

 Close Commercial Street between 31370 NW Commercial Street (Fire Station) 
and 31580 NW Commercial St (North Plains Market) between 4 pm and 9 pm 
Thursday nights between June and August. 
 

 Provide City support of the Market by providing portable toilets, tables and chairs, 
trash pickup, use of electrical drops; and barricades, as well as assisting with 
hanging signs; 
 

 Allow amplified music be permitted between the hours of 5 p.m. and 9 p.m. ______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 107 of 138



 
 Waive the fees associated with street closure, music amplification and public 

assemblies; and  
 
In the past the City has granted similar permissions to the Farmers Market directly.   
 
The Chamber has indicated it has insurance and that will cover special events.  Any 
alcohol service would be confined to a garden maintained by a business. 
 
Fiscal Impact:   If the requests are granted the City will not receive the fee revenue for 
small assemblies, street closures and amplified music.  City staff will spend 1-2 hours a 
week moving the portable toilet, setting up barricades and conducting related activities, 
which is a cost the City has absorbed in the past.   
 
Environmental Issues:  No environmental issues are associated with this item. 
 
Recommendation:  Council to adopt Resolution No. 1816 authorizing Chamber of 
Commerce requests for the 2014 Farmers Market 
 
Sample Motion:  I move to adopt Resolution No. 1816. 
 
Attachments:  Resolution No. 1816 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 108 of 138



RESOLUTION NO. 1816 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, 
OREGON, AUTHORIZING REQUESTS BY THE 2014 FARMERS MARKET 

 

 WHEREAS, the North Plains Farmers Market has operated since July 2011; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the North Plains Chamber of Commerce is seeking to partner with the 
North Plains Farmers Market Board to develop a market on Thursday evenings that will 
be integrated with Commercial Street businesses; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Farmers Market will operate under the Chamber of Commerce, 
and not the North Plains Senior Center; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Chamber of Commerce has made the following requests: 
 

 Close Commercial Street between 31370 NW Commercial Street (Fire 
Station) and 31580 NW Commercial St (North Plains Market) between 4 pm 
and 9 pm Thursday nights between June and August. 
 

 Provide City support of the Market by providing portable toilets, tables and 
chairs, trash pickup, use of electrical drops; and barricades, as well as 
assisting with hanging signs; 

 
 Allow amplified music be permitted between the hours of 5 p.m. and 9 p.m. 

 
 Waive the fees associated with street closure, music amplification and 

public assemblies; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Municipal Code provides the City with the authority to regulate 
noise (amplified music), close streets, authorize public assemblies and waive fees;  
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

 Waives all fees associated with the Farmers Market 
 

 Authorizes closure of Commercial Street between 31370 NW Commercial 
Street (Fire Station) and 31580 NW Commercial St (North Plains Market) 
between 4 pm and 9 pm Thursday nights between June and August. 
 

 Authorizes staff to use City personnel and equipment resources in support 
of the farmers market; 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 109 of 138



 Authorizes amplified music be permitted between the hours of 5 p.m. and 9 
p.m. 
 

 Requires the Chamber of Commerce to provide proof of insurance for the 
special event in a minimum amount of $1,000,000. 

 
INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 18th day of February, 2014. 
 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON 
 
 
 
BY:  _____________________________________ 

David Hatcher, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
BY:  ______________________________________ 

Margaret L. Reh, City Recorder 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 110 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 111 of 138

mreh
Typewritten Text
January 2014-Auto Pay

mreh
Typewritten Text

mreh
Typewritten Text
Agenda Item No: 8C



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 112 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 113 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 114 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 115 of 138

mreh
Typewritten Text
January 2014-Manual Checks

mreh
Typewritten Text
Agenda Item No: 8C (cont.)

mreh
Typewritten Text



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 116 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 117 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 118 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 119 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 120 of 138



______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 121 of 138



 

Agenda Item No: 9A    

 
CITY OF NORTH PLAINS 
31360 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, Oregon 97133 

 

Date:  February 18, 2014 

To:  Mayor and City Council 

From:  City Manager Martha DeBry 

Subject: Approval of city policies Number 604-613 

Request:  Council approve policies Number 604-613 
 
Background:   The draft policy manual was distributed at the 9/16/13 council meeting.   
 
To manage the workload of the reviewing ordinance Council directed that batches of 
policies be presented at a series of meetings. 
 
Policies to be approved on January 21, 2014 are: 
604 Americans with Disabilities Act 
605 Worker’s Compensation 
606 Workplace Safety 
607 Drug free Workplace 
608 Drug Discipline 
609 GINA 
610 Corrective Action 
611 Complaint or Grievance 
612 Performance Evaluations 
613 Information Systems 
 
All policies are as previously distributed to Council. 
  
Fiscal Impact:   Review and adoption of the policies has no direct fiscal impact.  
 
Environmental Issues:  No environmental issues are associated with this item. 
 
Recommendation:  All the policies will be approved by one motion after all have been 
reviewed and discussed. 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 122 of 138



 

Agenda Item No: 10A    

 
CITY OF NORTH PLAINS 
31360 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, Oregon 97133 

 

Date:  February 11, 2014 

To:  Mayor and City Council 

From:  City Manager Martha DeBry 

Subject: Introduction of Ordinance No. 419 Amending Municipal Code Section 6.25 
Peddlers, Solicitors, Street Vendor and Temporary Merchant Ordinance 

Request:  Council consider the introduction of Ordinance No. 419 amending Municipal Code 
Section 6.25 Peddlers and Solicitors. 
 
Background:  Municipal Code Section 6.25 provides general rules for the management of 
businesses that are temporary and mobile.  While the ordinance contemplates door-to-door 
sales of things like magazines (solicitors) or candy (peddlers), temporary merchants (which 
work less than 45 days a year) and some street vendors, it does not easily accommodate 
newer trends in small business such as self-contained food trucks or outdoor artisan 
markets. A table of the kinds of vendors covered by the ordinance and the differences 
between the designations is included in Council’s packet.  
 
The proposed revisions streamline the application process to one type of application for all 
kinds of businesses, provides hours of operations, and allows applications by umbrella 
groups.  It also preserves the exemption for merchants that participate in City events and the 
Farmers Market.  Tighter restrictions are proposed for door-to-door sales within the 
community and a consistent set of operating hours is proposed for mobile and vendors, 
solicitors and peddlers.  
 
Fiscal Impact:   The proposed change may provide the opportunity for some additional 
businesses to operate within the City. Street vendors would become subject to business 
licenses which may provide some additional revenue.  Staff will be recommending 
adjustments to the fees associated with the permits, maintaining higher fees for permits 
requiring background checks, and lowering vendor fees for businesses which do not require 
the higher level of scrutiny.  Renewal fees should also be established for solicitors and 
peddlers. 
 
Environmental Issues:  This regulation relies on Washington County to monitor food 
processing related activities.  It provides a more streamline process to allow outdoor markets 
or food pods to be developed.   
 
Recommendation:  Council read Ordinance No. 419 by title only.  
 
Sample Motion:  I move to approve Ordinance No. 419. 
 
Attachments:  Copy of Ordinance No. 419 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 123 of 138



Table of Vendors 

Type 
 

Conditions: 

Solicitor Peddler Stationary 
Street Vendor 

Stationary 
Food Cart 

Mobile Street 
Vendor 

Mobile Food 
Cart 

Temporary 
Merchant 

Zone All zones All zones Commercial 
Industrial 

Commercial 
Industrial 

Commercial 
Industrial 

Commercial 
Industrial 

Events in public 
and private 

locations 

Locations Private 
property 

Private 
property 

Private 
property 

Private 
property 

Public right-of-
way 

Public right-of-
way 

Private property 
or public right-of-

way 

Current 
Hours of 

Operations 

9 am – 9 pm 9 am – 9 pm Half hour 
before dawn 
and half hour 

after dusk 

Half hour 
before dawn 
and half hour 

after dusk 

Half hour before 
dawn and half 

hour after dusk 

Half hour before 
dawn and half 

hour after dusk 

No restriction 

Proposed 
Hours of 

Operation 

9 am-5 pm 9 am-5 pm 5 am – 11 pm No restriction 9 am-5 pm 5 am- 11 pm 5 am – 11 pm 

Current 
Registration 

Term 

6 months 6 months 6 months 6 months 6 months 6 months 45 days 

Proposed 
registration 

tem 

30 days 30 days 12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months 30 days 

Business 
License 

Required 

No No Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

Merchandise Ordered On-site On-site On-site On-site On-site On-site 

Applicant Individual Individual Individual or 
Group 

Individual or 
Group 

Individual Individual Individual or 
Group 

Example 
Businesses 

Magazines, 
Landscaping 

services 

Candy Produce stand, 
coffee cart 

Food truck pod Ice cream truck Food truck Seasonal 
strawberry sales, 
outdoor market 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 124 of 138



ORDINANCE NO. 419 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, 
OREGON, AMENDING MUNICIPAL CODE 6.25 PEDDLERS, SOLICITORS, STREET 

VENDOR AND TEMPORARY MERCHANT ORDINANCE 
 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed the peddlers and solicitors ordinance 
and the permitting process. 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON, 

ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. The Municipal Code Chapter 6.25 is amended as stated on 

Exhibit A.  
 

Section 2. Severability.  If any provision of this Ordinance or its 
application to any person or circumstances is held to be 
unconstitutional or invalid for any reason, the remainder of this 
Ordinance or the application of the provisions to other persons 
or circumstances shall not be affected. 

 
INTRODUCED on the 18th day of February, 2014, AND 

ADOPTED this 3rd day of March, 2014. 
 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON 
 
 
 
By:  _______________________________________ 

David Hatcher, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
By:  _______________________________________ 

Margaret L. Reh, Deputy City Recorder 
  

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 125 of 138



Exhibit A 

Ordinance No. 419 

CHAPTER 6.25 

PEDDLERS AND SOLICITORS 

 

Sections: 

6.25.010 Purpose 
6.25.020 Definitions 
6.25.030 Registration Requirements for Peddlers, Solicitors and Street 

Vendors 
6.25.040 Special Standards for Peddlers, Solicitors and Street Vendors 
6.25.050 Appeals by Peddlers and Solicitors 
6.25.060 Requirements for Temporary Merchants; Term 
6.25.070 Exemptions for Temporary Merchants 
6.25.080 Special Standards, Application and Fees for Temporary Merchants 
6.25.090 Licensing Approval, Authority and Appeals of Temporary 

Merchants 
6.25.100 Penalty 

 
6.25.010 Purpose 
 
This ordinance is enacted to regulate peddlers and solicitors and to authorize the imposition of a 
fee to help defray the costs to the City for investigating applications, monitoring peddlers and 
solicitors, street vendors and other temporary merchants, and administering this ordinance.  This 
ordinance applies to business activities that are conducted in areas outside of traditional business 
locations, such as private lots or public rights-of-way.  
 
6.25.020 Definitions 
 
The following words and phrases, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning, 
shall mean: 
 

A. “Peddler” means a person, or persons traveling from place to place selling and delivering 
merchandise or services at the same time.  The term “peddler” does not include a person 
who has been specifically invited to a customer’s residence or business location, or a non-
profit organization as organized under the Internal Revenue Service Code. 

 
B. “Person or persons” means any natural person and any firm, proprietorship, partnership or 

corporation. 
 

C. “Solicitor” means a person, or persons who travel from place to place not carrying goods, 
but taking orders for future delivery, or soliciting for money or other things of value.  The 
term “solicitor” does not include a person who has been specifically invited to a customer’s 
residence or business location, or a non-profit organization as organized under the Internal 
Revenue Service Code. 

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 126 of 138



D. “Street vendor” means a person, or persons traveling on public streets, public sidewalks, 
public property, or private streets, and carrying, conveying or transporting such items as 
food, beverages, flowers, and balloons, offering and exposing the same for sale by hand or 
from a mobile type device such as a push cart or van. There are four categories of street 
vendors:   
 

1. “Stationary street vendor” refers to any street vendor who occupies a specifically 
permitted area on private property. 

 
2. “Mobile street vendor” refers to any street vendor who does not occupy a 

specifically permitted area on private property, but instead travels consistently or 
intermittently throughout the city while offering goods or services for sale, 
including prepackaged foods.  

 
3. “Stationary Food Cart” refers to any self-contained food vendor who occupies a 

specifically permitted area on private property and is subject to Washington 
County, OR regulations regarding temporary restaurants. 

 
4. “Mobile Food Cart” to any street vendor that is parked in the public right-of-way 

and specialized in selling food items and is subject to Washington County, OR 
regulations regarding temporary restaurants.  

 
5. “Temporary merchant” means a person, or persons occupying a temporary, fixed 

location, not within a permanent building, and selling or delivering from stock on 
hand, doing business in much the same manner as a permanent business.   

 
6.25.030 Registration Requirements for Peddlers, Solicitors, Street Vendors and Temporary 

Merchants 
 

A. Registration.  All peddlers, solicitors, street vendors and temporary merchants shall register 
individually with the city prior to engaging in any vending activities.  The registration shall 
be filed with the City Recorder on a form supplied by the city.  Registrations will be 
accepted only during normal city business hours.  Failure to provide complete and accurate 
information may result in a violation of this section and immediate revocation and/or denial 
of registration.  Registrants must provide the following information: 

 
1. Personal identification including date of birth, driver’s license number and/or other 

appropriate identification. 
 
2. Copies of any state or county licenses which are required to operate or conduct 

activities proposed by the registrant. 
 
3. A statement which confirms the registrant has no previous criminal history, including 

conviction or incarceration for a crime such as theft, burglary, robbery, fraud, deceit, 
or any other crime of violence, within the ten year period prior to the date of 
registration. 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 127 of 138



 
4. A description of the goods or services offered for sale. 
 
5. If located on private property, the applicant shall obtain a signed, written consent from 

the owner of the property which authorizes the merchant to conduct business from the 
property. 

 
6. If located on public property, the temporary merchant shall obtain a signed, written 

consent authorized by the City Council or other public agency with authority to allow 
the merchant to conduct business from the publicly owned property.  The City is under 
no obligation to approve any request for such use. 

 
B. Term of Registration.   

1. A peddler, solicitor or temporary merchant registration is valid for 30 days, and must 
be renewed thereafter. 

 
2. The street vendor and food cart registration is valid for a period of twelve months, and 

must be renewed thereafter. 
 
6.25.040 Special Standards 
 

A. Peddlers and Solicitors.  All peddlers and solicitors shall: 
 

1. Limit hours of operation to 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. 
 

2. Not enter uninvited into a private building, structure or room. 
 

3. Not enter uninvited upon private property that is posted “No Soliciting” or with a 
similar sign. 

 
4. Within 30 seconds after beginning the conversation with a potential customer: 

 
a. Provide identification of both the person and whom the person represents; 

 
b. Explain the purpose of the person’s call; 

 
c. Provide a description in commonly understood terms of the goods or services 

offered for sale; and 
 

d. Inquire whether the person being solicited is interested in listening to a sales 
presentation and immediately discontinue the solicitation if the person being 
solicited gives a negative response. 

 
5. During the course of the solicitation, state the total cost of the goods or services offered 

for sale and the number, timing and amount of installment payments if payment on an 
installment basis is available to the person being solicited. 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 128 of 138



 
B.  Street Vendors, Food Carts.  All street vendors and food carts shall: 

 
1.  Limit operations to the following hours: 
 

a. Stationary Street Vendors may operate between 5 a.m. to 11 p.m. 
 
b. Stationary Food Carts may operate at any hour of the day. 
 
c. Mobile Street Vendors may operate between 9 a.m. and 5 p.m.   

 
d. Mobile Food Cart may operate between 5 a.m. and 11 p.m. 
 

2. Street vendors can only operate in commercial and industrial zones. 
 
3. All street vendors must display a city-issued identification card to operate within North 

Plains. 
 

4. Street vendors cannot advertise through the placement of signs (temporary or 
permanent) or employ a barker.  (Signs on the side of vehicles or carts are allowed.) 
 

5. Street vendors shall not be located in the right-of-way directly in front of the entrance 
of any open business.  

 
6. Food Carts are subject to all health and safety rules of Washington County and the State 

of Oregon.  
 

7. Food Carts shall not park in a public right of way within 40 feet of the entrance of a 
building containing a restaurant, delicatessen or bakery business, unless they have 
received the written permission of the business to operate in closer proximity to the 
business. 

 
6.25.060 Requirements for Temporary Merchants 
 

A. Requirements.  One temporary merchant license may serve as an umbrella license for 
several related organizations on one lot or public facility during the same license period. 

 
Term.  A temporary merchant license is valid for up to 30 consecutive days for each 
location, after which it may be renewed, subject to a fee set by City Council resolution. 
 

 
6.25.070 Exemptions for Temporary Merchants 
 
The following temporary merchants do not require a license and are exempt from the application 
requirements contained within Section 6.25.080 but must meet the standards under Section 
6.25.080. 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 129 of 138



 
A. Any temporary merchant who is in operation for three or fewer consecutive days at the 

same location. 
 

B. A non-profit organization selling goods, wares or merchandise, whose business is in 
operation on private property during one period not exceeding 30 consecutive days in any 
three month period. 

 
C. Sales associated with events sponsored by City of North Plains or specifically exempted 

by the City Council. 
 

D. Temporary construction offices in conjunction with the initial development of residential, 
commercial or industrial property. 

 
6.25.080 Special Standards, Application and Fees for Temporary Merchants 
 

A. Standards. 
 

1. Temporary Merchants shall limit operations to the hours of 5 a.m. – 11 p.m. 
 
2. The activities of the temporary merchant shall not unduly restrict parking spaces on 

public.   
 

3. Licenses for a temporary merchant shall be displayed by the temporary merchant in a 
visible location and shown to any customer or city official upon request. 
 

4. The proposal shall comply with the North Plains Zoning and Development Code as 
far as signage, height restrictions, public access, setbacks, coverage, vision clearance 
and yard requirements.    
 

5. A temporary merchant shall comply with all applicable sanitation codes, including 
waste disposal.  If self-contained facilities such as porta-potties are proposed, they 
must also meet all applicable city and state sanitation requirements.  

 
B. Fees.  All fees shall be charged as set by City Council resolution.  Fees are non-refundable. 

 
6.25.090 Licensing Approval, Authority and Appeals  
 

A. The city shall have the authority to approve or deny any application for a license to be 
issued.   

 
B. A license shall not be issued if the applicant has provided false information on the 

application form. 
 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 130 of 138



C. Any applicant for a license which is denied approval may appeal the decision to the City 
Manager.  The City Manager may accept or reject the decision of city staff, or waive any 
requirements imposed.   

 
6.25.100 Penalty 
 
Any person who engages in activities within the corporate city limits without having first 
registered, as provided by this Chapter, or without having first applied for and obtaining the license 
herein provided for, or who violates any other of the provisions of this Chapter, shall have 
committed an infraction and shall be processed in accordance with Chapter 1.01 of the Municipal 
Code.  Every day of a continuing violation shall be deemed a separate offense for the purposes of 
these penalties. 
  

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 131 of 138



 

Agenda Item No: 10B and 10C   

 
CITY OF NORTH PLAINS 
31360 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, Oregon 97133 

 

Date:  January 24, 2014 

To:  Mayor and City Council 

From:  City Manager Martha DeBry 

Subject: Ordinances No. 420 and 421 prohibiting use and sale of tobacco and 
vapor products to minors and prohibiting smoking at City properties 

Request:  Council consider two ordinances a) prohibiting use and sale of tobacco and 
vapor products to minors and b) prohibiting smoking at City properties. 

Background:  Mrs. Carla Bennett made a presentation on Tobacco prevention and 
education in Washington County at the Council meeting on February 3, 2014.  At that 
time Ms. Bennett advocated for the Council’s consideration of ordinance to address 
nicotine product sale and use. 
 
In recent years, the use of electronic cigarettes has grown greatly, and state laws do not 
address this trend. E-cigarettes are battery-powered devices that allow users to inhale a 
vapor mix consisting of nicotine, flavor additives and other chemicals. These may 
contain 0-24 mg of nicotine.  The products are marketed with candy flavors like gummy 
bear, chocolate and bubble gum.  Use of the e-cigarettes is called “vaping” as a cloud of 
vapor is generated by their use. The vapor is not as toxic as traditional cigarettes which 
are known to contain carcinogens and other toxic elements; however it can emit a 
noticeable odor. 
 
Since e-cigarettes do not contain tobacco, in Oregon these devices are not subject to 
age restrictions that apply to traditional cigarettes.  Technically any child can enter a 
market and purchase an e-cigarette.  Nicotine delivery systems like e-cigarettes can be 
as addictive as traditional cigarettes.  A 2013 survey of Oregon teens suggests that 
5.2% of 11th graders now use e-cigarettes. Nationally, almost 10% of middle and high 
school students are using e-cigarettes according to the Centers for Disease Control.  
Washington County is encouraging local agencies to consider local bans on the sale of 
nicotine products to minors until the State of Oregon adopts more consistent rules 
regarding e-cigarette sales.  This ordinance also prohibits the use of vapor products by 
minors. 
 
Additionally, Council can limit the use of nicotine products at City facilities.  Generally, 
the City has experienced no issues with people using e-cigarettes indoors.  At this time 
there is nothing preventing a person from entering the Library or Jessie Mays and using 
e-cigarettes.  Ordinance No. 421 would define smoking and tobacco use to include the 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 132 of 138



use of e-cigarettes and smokeless tobacco products at city facilities.  The ordinance 
prohibits the use of these products at City Hall, the Library, and parks.  It would apply to 
the indoors as well as the outdoor spaces.   
 
Fiscal Impact:   The proposed change would not have a direct fiscal impact on the City.  
Four retailers in North Plains offer e-cigarettes.  Three of them also sell tobacco 
products.   
 
Environmental Issues:  Nicotine is a stimulant drug that is naturally occurring in 
tobacco and other plants. When consumed by humans it is known to increase blood 
pressure and heart rate; and may cause microvascular injury.  Health educators 
generally discourage tobacco and nicotine use to promote a healthy addiction-free 
lifestyle.   
 
Recommendation:  Council introduce Ordinances No. 420 and 421   
 
Sample Motion:  I move to read by title only Ordinances No. 420 and 421. 
 
Attachments: Ordinances 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 133 of 138



ORDINANCE NO. 420  
 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, 
OREGON, ESTABLISHING MUNICIPAL CODE 4.50 PROHIBITING THE SALE AND 

USE OF TOBACCO AND VAPOR PRODUCTS BY MINORS 
 
 

WHEREAS, the City of North Plains Municipal Code Chapter 4 addresses general 
health and welfare issues within the community, and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council has received information from Washington County 
Tobacco Education and Prevention program. 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON, 

ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. The Municipal Code Chapter 4.50 is established, prohibiting 

the sale and use of tobacco and vapor products by minors as 
stated on Exhibit A. 

 
Section 2. Severability.  If any provision of this Ordinance or its 

application to any person or circumstances is held to be 
unconstitutional or invalid for any reason, the remainder of this 
Ordinance or the application of the provisions to other persons 
or circumstances shall not be affected. 

 
INTRODUCED on the 18th day of February, 2014, AND 

ADOPTED this 3rd day of March, 2014. 
 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON 
 
 
 
 
By:  _______________________________________ 

David Hatcher, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
By:  _______________________________________ 

Margaret Reh City Recorder 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 134 of 138



Exhibit A 

Ordinance No. 420  

 
Chapter 4.50. PROHIBITS THE SALE AND USE OF TOBACCO AND VAPOR 

PRODUCTS BY MINORS 
 
Sections: 
4.50.001   Definitions.  
4.50.002   Sale and use of tobacco and vapor products by minors prohibited. 
4.50.003   Penalties.  
 
 
4.50.001   Definitions. 
 
The following definitions apply to this chapter: 
 
"Tobacco" means any tobacco product, cigarette, cigar, pipe tobacco, smokeless tobacco, 
chewing tobacco, electronic cigarettes and any other form of tobacco or nicotine product (not 
approved by the FDA) which may be utilized for smoking, chewing, vaping, inhaling, or any 
other means of ingestion or consumption.  
 
“Vapor product” means a noncombustible product that employs a mechanical heating element, 
battery or circuit and that can be used to heat a nicotine solution; or a cartridge or other unit 
containing a nicotine solution to be placed in an electronic cigarette, device or product. 
 
 
4.50.002   Sale and use of tobacco and vapor products by minors prohibited. 
 
The sale, possession, distribution and use of tobacco, nicotine or vapor product in any form to 
persons under 18 years of age are prohibited. A person under the age of 18 may not purchase, 
attempt to purchase, use or obtain any tobacco or vapor product. Tobacco or vapor products in a 
retail store may not be located in an area accessible to customers without assistance by a store 
employee.  
 
 
4.50.003 Penalties.  
 
The sale of tobacco or vapor product in any form to persons under 18 years of age is prohibited. 
Any person who knowingly sells, or causes to be sold, tobacco to a person under 18 years of age 
commits the crime of endangering the welfare of a minor, pursuant to ORS 163.575. 
 
 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 135 of 138



ORDINANCE NO. 421  
 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, 
OREGON, ESTABLISHING MUNICIPAL CODE 4.53 PROHIBITING THE USE OF 

SMOKING AND TOBACCO PRODUCTS AT CITY FACILITIES. 
 
 

WHEREAS, the City of North Plains Municipal Code Chapter 4 addresses general 
health and welfare issues within the community, and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council has received information from Washington County 
Tobacco Education and Prevention program. 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON, 

ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. The Municipal Code Chapter 4.53 is established, prohibiting 

the use of smoking and tobacco products at City facilities as 
stated on Exhibit A.  

 
Section 2. Severability.  If any provision of this Ordinance or its 

application to any person or circumstances is held to be 
unconstitutional or invalid for any reason, the remainder of this 
Ordinance or the application of the provisions to other persons 
or circumstances shall not be affected. 

 
INTRODUCED on the 18th day of February, 2014, AND 

ADOPTED this 3rd day of March, 2014. 
 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON 
 
 
 
 
By:  _______________________________________ 

David Hatcher, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
By:  _______________________________________ 

Margaret Reh City Recorder 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 136 of 138



 
Exhibit A 

Ordinance No. 421 

 
Chapter 4.53   PROHIBITS SMOKING AND USE OF TOBACCO ON CITY PROPERTY 
 
Sections: 
4.53.001   Definitions.  
4.53.002   Smoking and tobacco use prohibited.  
 
 
4.53.001   Definitions. 
 
The following definitions apply to this chapter: 
 
"Smoking" means inhaling, exhaling, burning, or carrying any lighted cigar, cigarette, electronic 
cigarette, pipe, hookah, plant or any other smoking, tobacco, nicotine or tobacco-like product or 
substance in any manner or any form. 
 
"Tobacco use" means smoking, chewing, vaping, inhaling or any other means of ingestion or 
consumption of any tobacco product. 
 
"Tobacco" means any tobacco product, cigarette, cigar, pipe tobacco, smokeless tobacco, 
chewing tobacco, electronic cigarettes and any other form of tobacco or nicotine product which 
may be utilized for smoking, chewing, vaping, inhaling, or any other means of ingestion or 
consumption.  
 
Note: this policy does not prohibit use of FDA-approved nicotine replacement therapy products, 
such as nicotine patches, gum and lozenges, which are intended to help quit tobacco use and 
minimize symptoms of nicotine addiction. 
 
4.53.002   Smoking and tobacco use prohibited. 
 
Smoking and tobacco use is prohibited on all city-owned, leased and maintained properties, as 
well as all city-sponsored events and markets. This includes, but is not limited to, buildings, 
parking lots, park and recreation areas, vehicles and other real and personal property. 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 137 of 138



March 2014 Council Calendar 
 

Meeting Primary Alternate Note Date 

    

City Council   
7:00 p.m. Jessie Mays 
Community Hall 

03/03 

Washington County 
Coordinating Committee 
(WCCC) 

Hatcher DeBry 2nd Monday @  12 noon 03/10 

Planning Commission Hatcher  2nd Wednesday @ 7 p.m. 03/12 

Washington County Office of 
Community Development 
Policy Advisory Board 

Kindel Demagalski 2nd Thursday @ 7 p.m. 03/13 

City Council    7:00 p.m. at Jessie 
Mays Community Hall 

03/17 

Library Board Lenahan  3rd Wednesday @ 7 p.m. 03/19 

Benefit Dance (proceeds to 
North Plains Elementary 
School for Art Supplies) 

  Jessie Mays @ 6:30 03/22 

Playdate   Jessie Mays Community 
Hall @ 1:30 p.m. 03/23 

Metro Policy Advisory 
Committee (MPAC) Hatcher  4th Wednesday @ 5 p.m. 03/26 

Parks Board  4th Wednesday @ 7 p.m. 03/26 

Metropolitan Area 
Communications Commission 
(MACC) 

Warren Demagalski   

 

______________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014 
Packet Pagination: Page 138 of 138


	4A 021814 Preliminary Agenda
	4A 020314 Minutes
	7A Memo appeal of planning commission decision biggi
	7A2  121113 Planning Commission BIGGI staff report
	7A3a 31790 Robert Vincent-neighbor PC
	7A3b 31790 PC CNP Public Works Blake Boyles
	7A3c CWS memo to PC
	7A3d 31790 Comments Stacy Mills
	7A3e 31790 Richard Vandehey Basile - Comment
	7A3ee CC Comments Richard Vandehey
	7A4 31790 Final Order LaBonte PC
	7A5 021814 Appeal Application 31790
	7A5 021814 Appeal Maps 31790
	7A6  Minutes Planning Commission 121113
	7A6 31790 Hearing notice published Newspaper
	7A7 Affidavit Notice of Public Hearing-31790 NW North Emerio
	8A Memo Council match Benefit Dance proceeds
	8B Memo Resolution 1816 chamber of commerce farmers market
	8B Resolution Number 1816 Farmers' Market Requests
	8C Check Register-Auto Pay
	8C Check Register-Manual Checks
	9A Memo Progress on draft City Policies
	10A Memo Peddlers and solicitors
	10A Peddler Types
	10A Ordinance 419 Peddlers and Solicitors
	10B-10C Memo tobacco ordinances
	10Ba Ord No. 420 Prohibit sale and use Nicotine and Minors 1.2014
	10C Ord No. 421 Prohibits smoking on city property



